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STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent Donald M. Powers, Jr. (“Respondent” or “Powers”) is charged by Relator
Cincinnati Bar Association (“Relator” or “CBA”™) with violating DR 1-102(A)(3) by engaging in
illegal conduct involving moral nlrpitude, DR 1-102(A)(4) by engaging in conduct involving
dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation, and DR 1-102(A)(6) by engaging in conduct
adversely reflecting on a 1awycr’s fitness to practice Jaw. Many of the facts of this case are set
forth in a Stipulation of facts filed by the parties with the Board of Commissioners on Grievances
and Discipline of the Supreme Court of Chio (the “Board™), and in the Board’s findings of fact
set forth in its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Recommendation, Additional facts set
forth herein are derived from the transcript of the Board’s hearing in this matter.

Al Stipulated Fa(';t_s

The Stipulation filed by the parties with the Board includes a number of facts and
exhibits. The Stipulation and exhibits theretor are set forth in the Appendix hereto. The
Stipulatioﬁ filed by the parties includes, but is not limited to, the follbwing relevant facts:

Respondent Powers is an attorney duly admitted to the practice of law in the State of
Ohio in 1997. (Stipulation p. 1, §1.) Respondent is currently not registered as an attorney with
the Supreme Court of Ohio. (Stipulationp. 1,9 2.)

Respondent and his wife operated Premier Land Title Agency in Glendale, Ohio, from
_Septémber 2000 to July 2003. (Stipulation p. 1, § 3.} Dﬁring this period, Respondent was a
participant (along with several others) in a scheme involving “flipping” low value homes in the
greater Cincinnati, Ohio area. (Stipulation p. 1, § 4.) The “flipping” scheme involved buying a
piece of real estate for a low value, recruiting a buyer for the property who may not otherwise be

able to afford property, and creating false documents, including pay stubs,W-2 forms, bank




statements and employment verification for the potential buyer. Next, a falsely inflated appraisal
of the property would be obtained, and a false loan package would be submitted to the bank or
lender in order to obtain a highly inflated loan. (Stipulation p. 2,9 5.)
Premier Land Title Agency, of which Respondent was aﬁ owner, participated in the
closing of 310 loéns involved in this scheme. (Stipulation p. 2,7 6.) Respondent was- aware of
some of the fictitious and/or frandulent appraisals that were submitted to financial institutions in
furtherance of this scheme. (Stipulation p. 2, § 6.) Additionally, Respondent and/or Premier Land
Title Agency took part in acts which defrauded various federally insured financial institutions in
the execution of the “flipping” scheme by knowingly submitting false Housing and Urban
Development (HUD) forms to the financial institutions in support of a lc;an application. In
signing numerous HUD forms, Respondent falsely certified that the buyer had brought a down
payment to the closing, which he knew not to be true. (Stipulation p. 2,9 7.)

Respondent further participated by acting as both the title agent and the seller in
connection with five properties involved in the “flipping” scheme. Respondent purchased one
such property loqated at 1794 Carll Street in Cincinnati for $37,000 and sold it three months later
for $78,000. Also, in furtherance of the conspiracy, Respondent puréhased property located at
2283 Loth in Cincinnati for $6,000 and sold it six months later for $110,000. In both of these
transactions, Respﬁndent signed HUD statements certifying that the buyers brought over $11,000

to each of the closings as down payments, but in fact, the buyers .did not provide any funds as

down payments. (Stipulation p. 2, 8.). Respondent has admitted that due to his and Premier's

fraudulent activity, various financial and lending institutions have suffered an actual or intended

loss of $3.492,217.59. (Stipulation p. 3, § 9 (emphasis added).)

Respondent additionally willfully filed false individual income tax retumns with the



Internal Revenue Service for the years 2001 and 2002. He failed to report payoffs from the
frandulent loan proceeds and from others involved in the “flipping” scheme. (Stipulation p. 3,
10.)

-On February 1, 2005, Respondent pled guilty in United States District Court, Southern
District of Ohio, Western Division, to making a material false statement in a loan application in
violation of 18 U.8.C. § 1014, and to filing a false income tax return, in violation of 26 U.S.C. §
7206(1). (Stipulation p. 3, § 11.}  On October 31, 2005, Respondent was sentenced to
imprisonment for 28 months on the first count and 36 months on the second count. (Stipulatioﬁ
p.3,912)

In addition to the above stipulated facts, the parties stipulated to the authenticity of -
certain documents which were filed as exhibits to the Stipulation. Those stipulated documents
include the following:

Powers’ Plea Agreement in the United States District Court, Southern
District of Ohio, Western Division, United States of America v. Donald
Powers, Criminal Case No. CR 1-05-011-001, Exhibit A to the Stipulation
(“Stipulation Exhibit A”);
The Presentence Investigation Report dated June 28, 2005 in the United
States District Court, Southern District of Ohio, Western Division, United
States of America v. Donald M. Powers, Jr., Case No. CR1-05-011-001,
Exhibit B to the Stipulation (“Stipulation Exhibit B”); and
Judgment in a Criminal Case in the United States District Court, Southern
District of Ohio, Western Division, United States of America v. Donald M.
Powers, Jr., Case No. 1-05-011-001, Exhibit C to the Stipulation
(“Stipulation Exhibit C”).

B. The Board’s Findings of Fact

Several significant findings of the Board in its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and

Recommendation (“Findings”) are contrary to the Stipulation filed by the parties and the

criminal Plea Agreement of Respondent attached to the Stipulation.



The Board found that Respondent partnered in the purchase of two residential properties
in Cincinnati, (Findings p. 3.) The Board concluded that the Respondent, when he was made
aware of the investigation by the local police, cooperated with law enforcement in the
investigation. (Findings p. 3.) The Board believed and therefore found as factual that
Respondent’s involvement in the dgy to day affairs of the title agency was very limited, and that
Respondent employed numerous persons, including his wife, who handled the actual paperwork
in the transactions involving the flipping scheme. (Findings p. 3.) The Board found that
Respondent relied ultimately to his detriment on those persons to do a thorough and honest job in
the Work handled by the title agenc;:y. (Findings p. 3.) The Board further found that because
Respondent was the owner and overseer of others working at the agency, Respondent accepfed —
and still accepts — full responsibility for their misconduct in the course of their employment.
: (Findir_xgs p. 3.) The Board also concluded that Respoﬁdent opted to take advantage of a
negotiat_ed Plea Agreement offered by federal prosecutors in order to avoid mounting an
expensive trial defense. (Findings p. 4) The Supreme Court of Ohio suspended Respondent
from the practice of law on an interim basis as the result of the federal felony convictions on
January 27, 2006. (Findings p.. 4.) Respondent was paroled from prison on August 7, 2007.
(Findings p. 4.)

The Board unanimously found by clear and convincing evidence that the conduct of
Respondent violated_DR 1-102(A)(3), DR 1-102(A)(4), and DR 1-102(A)(6). (Findings p. 4.)

Relator recommended to the Board that Respondent be disbarred; Respondent urged that
an indefinite suspension be imposed. (Findings p. 5.) The Board recommended that Respondent
should be indefinitely suspended. (Findings p. 5.) The hearing panel noted in its conclusion that

it found Respondent’s testiinony extremely compelling and credible and that Respondent had a



limited involvement in the criminal and fraudulent conduct involved in the federal case,
notwitﬁstanding the general acknowledgments made on the record in federal court in order that
Respondent’s negotiated plea would be accepted. (Findings pp. 5-6.) The Board further found
that Respo-n‘dcnt expressed a great deal of remorse, took complete responsibility for his actions as
well as those of his employeeé and business associates, and that Respondent had already been
subject to serious sanctions through his federal prison sentence. (Findings p. 6.)

The Board failed enﬁrely to address the Respondent’s failure to make restitution, or his
failure to finalize his agreement with Trustcorp as to restitution even thought the Respondent
acknowledged that he had not made restitution or made arrangements for restitution with
Tmstéorp. {Hearing Transcript (“Tr.”), pp. 77-82.) The Board failed to recommend the payment
of restitution to the victims of Respondent’s wrongful conduct.

ARGUMENT
Proposition of Law I: The Board erroneously accepted the testimony of the Respondent
which enabled the Respondent to contradict the Stipulated facts agreed to by Relator and
Respondent and which, more importantly, contra_dicted the Plea Agreement and Statement
of Facts agreed to by the Respondent in Federal District Court which was voluntarily made
by Respondent in order to achieve a rgduced sentence in the criminal proceedings.

The Board acted erroneously in accepting and giving weight to the testimony of the
Respondent Which- was contradictory to the signed Stipulation, the Plea Agreement in Federal
District Court, and Respondent’s sworn Statement of Facts in that proceeding. The Board
allowed Respondent to relitigate; minimize, and essentially shift the responsibility for his
fraudulent and criminal actions to his now ex-wife and other employees in his office.

Respondent is estopped from contending that he did not partake in the activities he pled

guilty to in the criminal proceeding. Respondent’s motivation is irrelevant. Respondent should

not be permitted to agree to his involvement in criminal activities in order to obtain favor in the




criminal proceedings, and then seek to avoid those same admissions when it suits his purpose in
these disciplinary proceedings. it is egregious to permit Respondent to take advantage of a Plea
Agreement, wherein he stated as true that he:

Aided others in a scheme to defraud various federally insured financial

institutions by, among other things, knowingly submitted false Housing and

Urban Development forms to those financial institutions in support of a loan

application. The scheme involves the “flipping” of low value homes located in

- Greater Cincinnati, Ohio area (Stipulation Exhibit A at p. 12 of Statement of

Facts.) '

In those transactions respondent stated he was aware of the fictitious and/or fraudulent
appraisals (Stipulation Exhibit A, at of Statement of Facts.) Respondent signed forms containing
false information that buyers did not.bring down payments to closing and that there were
“kickbacks” outside of the closing, which were not disclosed to the lender. (Stipulation Exhibit A
at p. 13 of Statement of Facts.)

Respondent also personally participated in five fraudulent fransactions as a buyer and
then seller -of properties. (Stipulation p. 2, § 8.) Respondenf agreed to these facts to receive a
reduced sentence from the Federal District Court. Respondent now turns around and attempts to
rﬁinimize and reject responsibility in the proceeding. If such action is permitted the flood gates
in criminal and civil proceedings will be opened for people to change their positions to secure a
more advantagéous position in a second proceeding such as the present diéciplinary proceeding.

Respondent’s situation is similar to that of the plaintiff in Wolszek v. Weston, Hurd,
Fallon, Paisely & Howley LLP (8" Dist. 2004), 2004 WL 64947, wherein the plaintiff claimed
innocence in a civil trial with regards to conduct she had pled guilty to in a previous criminal
trial. As clearly stated by the court in Wolszet, ;‘a criminal conviction is conclusive proof and

operates as an estoppel on defendants as to the facts supporting the conviction in a subsequent

civil action,” and thus the plaintiff was estopped from claiming innocence. In reaching their




decision, the Wolszek court relied on U.S. and Ohio Supreme Court decisions (Emich Motors
Corp. v. General Motors (1951) 340 U.S. 558; State v. Szefcyk (1996), 77 Ohio St. 3d 93) that
held that issue preclusion applies in criminal and civil proceedings, and that it bars relitigation of
1ssues determined in the initial proceeding.

Similar to the plaintiff in Wolszek, Respondent pled guilty to conduct in'a criminal trial
and is now claiming that he was only responsible because he was responsible for his
subordinates’ actions. Because the issue of his guilt, and the facts supporting it, were agreed to
and determined in-the criminal proceeding, Respondent is estopped from taking a position
inconsistent with his Plea Agreement and Statement of Facts in this disciplinary proceeding.

Additionally, Respondent is also prevented from attacking his criminal conviction during
the disciplinary proceedings pursuant to Gov. Bar. R. (V)(5)(B), which states:

A certified copy of a judgment entry of conviction of an offense or of a

determination of default under a child support order shall be conclusive evidence

of the commission of that offense or of the default in any disciplinary proceedings

instituted against a justice, judge, or an attorney based upon the conviction or

defanlt.

A nearly identical previous version of this rule was applied in Bar Association of Greater
Cleveland v. Bendis (1982), 70 Ohio St. 2d 282, and in Portage County Bar Association v. Miller
(1982), 70 tho St. 2d 162, where‘ the Court held that the respondent could not collaterally attack
a criminal conviction in subsequent disciplinary proceedings.

Tl;e Respondent’s criminal conviction staﬁds and what he stated therein is conclusive
evidence of his commission of that crime, and the Board should not allow him to collaterally
attack the criminal conviction or minimalize his involvement in the disciplinary proceedings.

Moreover, as the Court stated in Disciplinary Counsel v. Margolis (2007), 114 Ohio St.

3d 165, where a respondent previously pled guilty to a criminal conviction, the Court will not




allow the Respondent to try and minimize or reject responsibility for the conviction during the
disciplinary proceedings.

For the reasons stated above, Respondent is prohibited from trying to attack, minimize, or
reject responsibility for his criminal conviction during these disciplinary proceedings and the
Board erred in permitting such testimony and taking such testimony into account in rendering its

decision herein.

Proposition of Law II: The Board gave inappropriate weight to Respondent’s testimony,
and the evidence warrants disbarment of Respondent from the practice of law.

The case law with regard to whether or not an individual in a position such as Respondent
should be disbarred or indefinitely suspended creates no definitive test.

It continues to be the position of the Relator CBA that the massive fraud perpetrated by
Respondent, which is set out in his Plea Agreement and Statement of Facts, is of such magnitude
that an indefinite suspension is insufficient. Participating in 301 loans that resulted in losses to
victims of Respondent’s scheme in the amount of $3,492,217.59 requires disbarment. Stipulation
 Exhibit A atp. 14 of Statement of Facts.)

In Disciplinary Counsel v. Stern (2005), 106 Ohio‘ St.3d 266, this Court held that
disbarment was the appropriate sanction where the respondent was convicted of a felony drug
offense, malicious damaging or building by fire, bank fraud -and money laundering. Such |
conduct violated: the Disciplinary Rules barring illegal conduct involving moral turpitude,
barring conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation, and barring conduct
adversely reflecting on lawyer’s fitness to practice law. This Court furthér stated that permanent
disbarment is the appropriate sanction for conduct that violates the Disciplinary Rules and results

in a felony conviction,




In C’incinnati Bar Association v. Blake (2003), 100 Ohio St.3d 298, the respondent pled
guilty to three counts of theft and one count of forgery, and was sentenced to five years
community service in order to make restitution to his victims in the amount of $25,297. The
Court found that respondent had violated DR1-102(A)(3), 1-102(A)(4), 1-102(A)}5) and 1-
102(A)(6) and ordered that he be permanently disbarred. In cozxsideﬁng sanctions, the Court
noted that there was no evidence to substantiate respondent’s good faith compliance with the
order of restitution.

In Cincinnati Bar Association v. Blankemeyer (2006), 109 Ohio St.3d 156, the respondent
pled guilty to felony theft and was sentenced to community control for a period of five years in
ordef to pay restitution of $184,643.41. The respondent was subsequently arrested on a first
degree misdeﬁeanor theft charge and sentenced to prison. This Court found the respondent
violated DRI1-102(A)(3), 1-102(A)4) and 1-102(A)6), and rejected the Board’s
recommendation that the respondent be indefinitely suspended and instead permanently
disbarred him. The Court then stated “an attorney who has been convicted of felony theft
offenses has violated the basic professional duty to act with honest and integrity.” Id. at 158.

In Disciplinary Counsel v. Bein (2004), 105 Ohio St.3d 62, the respondent pled guilty to
two federal criminal chgrges, being one couﬁt of conspiracy to engage in the interstate
transportation of stolen property and one count of conspiracy to conduct financial transactions
for stolen goods (monr;:y" laundering). The respondent was sen;cenced to a term of five years
probation with six montims of home detention and to forfeit $150,000 to the U.S. Government.
The Court disbarred the Respondent and stated:

A lawyer who engages in the kind of criminal conduct committed by respondent

violates the duty to maintain personal honesty and integrity, which is one of the

most basis professional obligations owed by lawyers to the public. Respondent’s
misconduct was not only harmful not only to the businesses affected but also to




the legal profession, which is and ought to be a high calling dedicated to the
service of clients and the public good.. 7d. at 360.

Similafly, in Columbus Bar Association v. Neal (2007), 114 Ohio St.3d 461, this Court
held that permanent disbarment was appropriate where the attorney étaged burglaries, and then
submitted false insurance claims t_otaling $126,000. This conduct led to convictions for multiple
felony offenses, and violation of DR 1-102(A)(3), 1-102(A)(4) and 1-102(A)(6).

In Disciplinary Counsel v. Ulinski (2005), 106 Ohio St.3d 53, the respondent was
involved in a fraudulent investment scheme victimizing approximately 100 clients which
resulted in convictions for conspiracy to commit securities fraud, mail fraud, and wire fraud.
The conduct also violated multiple provisions of the Code of Professional Responsibility. The
Court held that the appropriate sanction was permanent disbarment.

We would also refer the Court to the cﬁses of Cincinnati Bar Association v. Heekin
(1984), 9 Ohio St.3d 84, and Disciplinary Counsel v. Goldberg (2002), 94 Ohio St.3d 337, both
of which involved theft issues and disciplinary violations similar to the violation present here. In
~both cases, the respondent was disbarred. See also Cuyahoga County Bar Association v.
Mazanec (2007), 114 Ohio St.3d 427 (permanent disbarment was wartanted where attorney
misaf)propriated funds from trust, attorney had dishonest and selfish motive, he failed to
cooperate in disciplinary process, harmed vulnerable clients, and failed to make restitution, even
though attorney had no prior disciplinary record and a civil judgment had already been imposed
against him); Medina County Bar Association v. Wootton (2006), 110 Ohio St.3d 179 {permanent
disbarment was appropriate sanction for attorney’s misconduct in real estate transactions given
his repeated theft of funds, dishonésty to clients, the considerable financial harm he caused, and
his lack of cooperation in disciplinary process); Disciplinary Counsel v. Hunter (2005), 106 Ohio

St.3d 418 (attorney’s embezzlement of nearly $300,000 from two separate estates in her charge
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warranted permanent disbarment, even though attorney suffered from depression, had no prior
record of professional discipline, and claimed to have made restitution; attorney committed her
misconduct out of greed and deceit, and engaged in a pattern of misconduct, and restitution was
neither timely nor in good faith); Cleveland Bar Association v. Dadisman (2006), 109 Ohio St.3d
82.

Relator believes that the sole motivation of Respondent in the transactions involving his
title insurance company was for his own pecuniary benefit. This is evidenced by his testimony
as to how well the title company was doing, ha-ving a daily balance in its accounts averaging
$4,000,000, and closing somewhere in the neighborhood of 150 to 200 loans per month, (Tr. pp.
34, 35.) The Respondent testified that he was paid a salary of $50,000 per year and the title
company was netting $500.00 per closing which was split three ways with his wife and Steve
Mirnger, his investor partner. (Tr. pp. 37, 107.) Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00) per closing, 150
to 200 closings per month equals between $75,000 to $100,000 per month or between $900,000
and $1,200,000 a year which translates to yearly compensation to Respondent and his_ wife of
$600,000 to $900,000 per year.

Respondent generally testified at his hearing that he knew nothing about the fraudulent
loan applications, false appraisals, false documents, and false HUD statements, and knew liitle
about the closings and reliéd on others. (Tr. pp. 33, 34.) Respondent testified he only becéme
aware of these problems when he met With Detective Whitman. (Tr. pp. 46, 48, 49) A review
of Respondent’s Stipulation, Plea Agreement and Statement of Facts clearly shows that he was
personally involved in five transactioﬁs as a buyer and seller, and Respondent knew that the

buyers did not pay the down payments. (Stipulation p. 2, § 8.)
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Respondent bought Carll -Street for $37,000 on September 10, 2001 and sold it on
December 11, 2001 for $78,000, but had no idea why this property increased in value and what
money if any was put into the property for improvements. (Tr. pp. 91-92.)

Respondent also bought Loth Street for $6,000 on September 6, 2001 and sold it six
months later for $110,000. A review of Respondent’s testimony is that he knew nothing specific
as to what went info this property and only made $6,000 to $9,006 on the sale and that money
went to investors. When questioned further as to where the money went he could not explain.
(Tr. i)p. 93-94.)

One of the most telling question and answer exchanges took place when Relator’s
counsel asked Respondent to clarify his answer that no one had suffered because of his actions.

Q. One of the questio.ns that Mr. Marks asked and Srou answered, you said

that — correct me if I misunderstood, you said that you felt that no one had

suffered because of your actions. And I didn’t understand that. '

A.  1think I can clarify. thiﬁk that statement came in the context of my legal

representation of clients. That none of my clients had ever suffered as a result of

any of my conduct as an atforney, as distinct from a business ownership.

Q. But you would then recognize that your obligations as an attorney are not
to defraud people; isn’t that correct?

A As I sit before this Panel today, T think in full recognition and agreement
that the role in the position of an attorney extends even into your personal life,
which prior to my unfortunate circumstance I don’t think was really in the
forefront of my thinking.

And I think there may be many just like me in the Bar who don’t quite
understand that the ethics that are required to act as an attorney extend much
farther than we’re willing to concede at this time.

Q. You lost me there. Is this to say that you don’t think a lot of attorney in the
Bar Association don’t understand the difference between making true and false
statements?

Al Oh, no. I think it’s much bigger than that. What I’'m trying to say is the
line is much smaller than that, I think, in terms of being an ethical attorney. It

12




doesn’t come ~ At least it’s my understanding it doesn’t begin and end at actual
defrauding and criminal conduct. I think it’s of a more strict standard than that.

Q. Do you see yourself separating yourself being an attorney and being a
business person?

A. Yes, sir. I think because it’s — because in our industry before we say we
. represent somebody, we’re very careful about the information that we give out.
We like to get letters of engagement in retaining — otherwise, we’re not really
counsel.

And I think to a large extent, I saw this as — because the cases that I took
were entirely different. 1 didn’t take real estate cases. I took a lot of pro bono-
cases. ' '

Q. When you were running your title company and you were working and
responsible for all these loans that were being closed, didn’t you see that as your
responsibility as an attorney to be honest, fair, not defraud people, not accept false
appraisals, not achieve kickbacks? '

A, Yes, sir, [ did.
Q. And you just ignored that?

A, I think my testimony was not so much that 1 ignored it, but I took
responsibility for the fact that it went on in the scope of this operation that I had.

Q. And in that process, wouldn’t you acknowledge that a lot of people were
damaged and hurt by that process?

A. I would acknowledge, yeah.
Q. And that’s your responsibility?
A Absolutely. Absolutely.
And the difficult part of it, oftentimes, it remains nameless and faceless.
And that’s what makes it difficult to see when this stuff is going forward. And
what T tried to get across is that even thought it was an operation of volume and of
size, you can’t peint to an individual homeowner who may have been damaged.
But certainly hundreds of banks have people who work who suffered
financial loss and hardship, investors there. Absolutely. Those people probably

aren’t appreciated up front.

Q. The big people, the trust companies, they lose money. That’s —

13




A Not just them sit. Each one of them have a web of people below them.
And even though it’s easy to look at the big trust companies, it’s not. I mean,
there are people involved, and they take the hit for decisions like that.

There are people below that get paychecks that depend on this company
being solvent. When stuff like this happens, companies are put in a position that
is precarious.

Q. What about the individual property owner? What about this guy by the
name of Goedde or whoever he was, that bought that particular piece of property
from you? Anything happen to him as a result of this?

A. You know, I'm uncertain because from what I knew — And I represented
some of Mr. Minger’s investors — I really don’t know. I mean, if they had to go
through foreclosure and whatnot as a result of that, I don’t know if it was as a
result of that or the fact that when the federal authorities came down Mr. Minger
stopped managing their properties for them. To that extent if they had to file
bankruptcy, yeah, they were damaged, as well.

Q. Bankruptcies, foreclosures, loss of credit, loss of credit because of this?

A. You have to understand that, apparently, after looking at this — after this
there were many people that Minger worked with that simply just walked away.

1 don’t know if Mr. Goedde was one of those people or not. If I could put
them all into one basket and say, you know, the innocent and the wanna-bes, yes.
But if I want to be honest about it and look at the people that may have not been
as scrupulous as some others, it’s difficult to put us all in the same basket.

Q. So Mr. Goedde, he’s got a mortgage that he can’t pay and so the property
‘goes into foreclosure. He ends up with absolutely nothing. He has got a lawsuit
against him. Maybe he went bankrupt, maybe he didn’t.

But somewhere along the line all of those individuals that these properties
were flipped ended up in losses to Trust Corp. — whatever the figure was that we
acknowledged or talked about before — for close to three-and-a-half million
dollars. That’s money that they lost because they couldn’t get it back from the
people that these properties had been sold to. Is that accurate?

A, I would suppose that in the foreclosure process and during the evidentiary
hearing we never got to visit that. So what you’re talking about is conjecture with
the way the foreclosure process works when the lending institution takes a
property back.

Ordinarily, it’s two-thirds appraisal value or they’ll bid it up. And then

14




you don’t know if they sold it for market value. Ireally couldn’t testify to — I can
say that argument can be made, whether or not that actually happened.

The same with Mr. Goedde. I have no idea what he profited from and
some of the other deals. The other thing I can tell you is that Mr. Minger’s
investors were in the same situation as Mr. Goedde and they came out doing okay.

(Tr. pp. 85-91.}

The Respondent’s testimony in describing his involvement in the closings on Carll Strest
and Loth Street is either misleading or illogical, but certainly contradictory to his Stipulatién and
Statement of Facts. This Court must weigh Respondent’s Plea Agreement and Statement of Facts
agaiﬁst his testimony and reject his testimony about knowing little if anything about how the title
company worked; knowing little about the sale of the properties in which he personally
benefited; as one of the three owners of Premier Title he had no knowledge of the transactions
involved; and that the 310 flipping transactions that he agreed took place were completelyl
without his knowledge.

Relator is concerned that the Board was overly influenced by Powers’ ernétional
testimony at the hearing and the proclaimed tragedies in his life, and ignored the Stipulation of
Facts and most importantly Respondent’s own plea Agreement and Statement of Facts in the
federal criminal proceedings. The Board essentially stated that because Respondent went to
prison that he had been sufficiently punished and this, somehow, excuses the severity of the
matter hlirolved for the profession.

However, an underlyiﬁg crime or misdeed should not be excused simply because a person
is contrite, sorrowful, and accepts responsibility, especially for a crime of the magnitude
involved here. In the given situation, this Court must really look at whether such perceived
credibility and acceptance of responsibility somehow excuses Respondent’s disregard of his and

our oath of office.
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Proposition of Law III: The Board, in recommending an indefinite suspension without
restitution, failed to acknowledge or give weight to the fact that the U.S. District Court has
ordered Respondent to make restitution.

In further considering this matter and reviewing the decision of the Board, there is no
mention of any restitution required by the Respondent in the within matter. It is the position of
- Relator that in the event that the Supreme Court is inclined to accept the recommendation of the
Board, that any such indefinite suspension be specifically conditioned upon the payment of
restitution by Respondent to Trustcorp and as required by the United States District Court.

In cases involving felony convictions and indefinite suspensions, restitution has
consistently been required. See Office of Disciplinary Counsel v. Lawlor (2001}, 92 Ohio St.3d
406; Cincinnati Bar Association v. Arnold (1999), 85 Ohio St.3d 294; Office of Disciplinary
Counsel v. Williams (1999), 84 Ohio St.3d 392; Akron Bar Association v. Mudrick (2001), 93
Ohio St.3d 621. Even in cases where there has been no felony conviction, the Court has 7
consistentlsr required restitution where indefinite suspension is ordered. See Disciplinary Cou_nsel
v. Mathewson (2007) 113 Ohio St.3d 365; Disciplinary Counsel v. Griffith (2004) 104 Ohio
St.3d 50.

CONCLUSION

Relator Cincinnati Bar Association respectfully requests that the Supreme Court modify
the Board of Commissioners’ Decision herein and order disbarment of Respondent. In the event
that the Supreme Court accepts the recommendation of the Board of Comrﬁissioners, Relator
rcquésts that this Court require that restitution be made to Trustcorp and as required by the

United States District Court.
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Dated: March {4 , 2008 Regpectfully submitted,

Franklin A. Klaine, Jr. (0019300)
150 E. Fourth Street, 4th Floor

Cincinnati, Ohio 45202

Telephone: 513-621-2120

Facsimile: 513-241-8259
faklaine(@straussstroy.com

E fantn oot e Notlon
E. Hanlin Bavely (0025868) oSl )
432 Walnut Street, Suite 850

Cincinnati, Ohio 45202

‘Telephone: 513-621-6621

Facsimile: 513-721-4129

chbavelv(@zoomtown.com

Attorneys for Relator
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I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing was served by ordinary U.S. mail this S 0\*‘(\
day of March, 2008 upon:

Edward G. Marks, Esq.

Hardin, Lazarus, Lewis & Marks, LLC
30 Garfield Place, Suite 915
Cincinnati, OH 45202

Jonathan W, Marshall, Secretary
Board of Commissioners on Grievances & Discipline
Supreme Court of Ohio
65 South Front Street, 5th Floor
Columbus, OH 43215-3431

Franklin A. Klaine, Jr. (0019300)
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BEFORE THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
ON GRIEVANCES AND DISCIPLINE OF
THE SUPREME COURT OF OHIO

In re: _
| DONALD M. POWERS JR. (00677_28) Case No. 06-012
Reépondent - -
CINCINNATI BAR ASSOCIATION STIPULATION |
Relator :

Now come the parties through their respective counsel and stipulate the following facts
and documents.

FACTS

1. - Respondent, Donaid M. Poweré,- Ir. is an attorney duly admitted to the practice of
law in the State of Ohio in 1997. | |

2. Respondent currently is not r’egistered as an attorney with the Supreme Court of
Ohio. |

3. ' Respoﬁdent and his wife operated Premier Land Tiﬂé Agency in Glendale, Ohio,
from September 2000 to July 2003,

4, During this period, Respondent was a participant (along with several others) in a

scheme involving "flipping" low value homes in the greater Cincinnati, Ohio area.
5. The "flipping" scheme involved buying a piece of real estate for a low value,
recruiting a buyer for the property who may not otherwise be able to afford property, and

creating false documents, includirig pay stubs,W-2. forms, bank statements and employment




verification for the potential buyer. Next, a falsely inflated appraisal of the property would be
obtained, and a false loan packagc would be submitted to the bank or lender in order td obtain a
highlﬁ_f iﬁﬂated loan.

6. Premier Land Title Agency, of which Respondgn‘t was an owner, participated n
the closing of 310 loans involved in this scheme. Respondént was aware of some of the fictitious
and/or fraudulent appraisalé that were submitted to financial institutions in furtherance of this
scheme,

7. Additionally, Respondent 'e‘md/or Premier Land Title Agency took part in acts
which defrauded various federally insured financial institutions in the exe;ution of the "flipping"
scheme by knowingly submittinrg false Housing and Urban Development (HﬁD) forms .1:0 the
ﬁﬁancial institutions in support of a loan application. In signing numerous HUD forms,
Respondént falsely certified that the buyer had brought 2 down payment to the closing, which he
- knew not to be true, |

8. Respondent further participated ﬁy acting as both the ti.tlc agent and the seller in
connection with five properties involved in the "flipping" scheme. Respondent purchased one
such property located at 1794 Carll Street in Cincinnati for $37,000 and sold it three months later
for $78,000. Also, in furtherance of the conspiracy, Respondeﬁt purchased property located at
- 2283 Loth in 'Cincinnati for $6,000 and sold it six months later for $110,000. In both of thése
transactions, Réspondent signed HUD statements certifying that the buyers brought over $11,000
.to each of the closings as down. payments, but in fact, the buyers did not provide any funds as
ddwn payments.

9. Respondcnj: has admitted that due to his and Premier’s fraudulent activity,

various financial and lending institutions have suffered an actual or intended loss of



$3,492,217.59.

10.  Respondent ac'i_ditionaliyr' willfully ﬁl_ed false individual income tax returns with
the Internal Revenue Service for the years 2001 and 2002. He failed to r;‘pdrt portions of the
payments received from the fraudulent loan proceeds and from others involved in the "flipping"
.sch_eme. |

11. On February 1, 2005, Respondent. pléd g.guiltjr in United States District Court,
Southern District of Ohio, Western Division, to making a material false statement in a loan
application in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1014, and to filing a false income tax return, in violation
of 26 U.S.C. § 7206(1).

12. On Octobér 31, 2005, Responderﬁ was sentenced to imprisonment for 28 months
on the first count and 36 months on the second count, to be served concufrently, and he is
currently imprisoned. |

3. Thé filing of this Stipulation will not preclude either party from 'pres'enting
witnesses or 1egai a.rguments‘at the hearing of this matter.

In addition to thé above stipulated facts, the parties hereto stipulate to the authenticity of
the following documents which were filed as copies to this Stipulation as exhibits theretc;.

A, Tn the United States District Court, Southern District of Ohio, Western Division,
Criminal Case No. CR 1-05-011-001 being United States of America v. Donald Poﬁ»ers Plea
Agreement Exhibit A.

B. . In the United States District Court, Southem District of Ohio, Western Division,
United States of America v. Donald M. Powers, Jr., Docket No. CR1-05-011-001, Presentence
Investigation Report dated June 28, 2005 Exhibit B.

C.  In the United States District Court, Southern District of Ohio, Western Division,



United States of America v. Donald M. Powers, Jr., Case No. CR 1-05-01 1-001, Judgrneht ina

Criminal Case Exhibit C.

Reépectﬁﬂly submitted,

Franklin A. Klaine, Jr. -
Attorney Bar Number: 0019300
On behalf of Relator, Cincinnati Bar
Association
The Federal Reserve Building
150 East Fourth Street
Cincinnati, OH 45202
Telephone: (513) 621-2120
Facsimile: (513) 241-8259
- faklaine(@strausstroy.com

ward G
ttorney Bar N be 0001251
Attorney for Respondent, Donald M.

Powers, Jr. .

30 Garfield Place, Suite 915
Cincinnati, OH 45202
Telephone: (513) 421-4400
Facsimile: (513) 721-7008
emarks@hllmlaw.com

1026620_1.DOC
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA : CRIMINALNO. | Uty T
: ; aTE: _\A~-f- QEDD..S__M.__ J

. 1 4y03CRGO0TT

PLEA A REEMENT

DONALD POWERS : HONORABLE SUSAN J. DLOTT.

The United States Attorney for the Southern District of Ohio and the def;;néant f)%nald | o~
Powers, also called “the parties” herein, agree that:

1. Donald Powers wil] waive Indictment by the Federal Grand .Tufy and will enter a plea of
guilty'beforc the United States District Judge to a two-Count Information chmging him with Making -
a Material False State;ﬁent in a Loan Application, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1014 and Filing a False
Income Tax Return, in violation 0f 26 U.S.C. § 7206(1). Making a Mateﬁal False Statement carries
a maximum penalty of up to thirty (30) years imprisonment, a.. fine of up to $1,000,000.00, 2 five (5)
year term of supérvised release, restitution, and a $100.00 special as_sessment; Filing a False Income _
Tax Return carries a maximum penalty of up to five (5) years iﬁpdson1ne11t, a $ﬁ$0,000 fine, the
costs of prosecution, restitution, and.a mandatory $ 100 special assessment.

2. The defendant understands that this Agreeméntpmmitting a guilty plea to the above-listed |
counts requires that the defendanrt abide by each term of this Agreement. The defendant understands

that if the defendant makes any statement that is materially false in whole or in part or otherwise fails

" to comply with any term of this Agreement, the United States has the right to declare this Agreement

! | EXHIBIT
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void and to prc;secute the defendant to the full extent of the law, If this Plea Agreement or the
dcf'endaht’s coﬁvi ction upon hié gui ltf pleaisvoided for any rcasbn, the defendant waives any statute
of limitations with respect to the United States prosecuting him for any offense arising from his
conduct in this case.
3. The defendant will give complete cooperation to law enforcement authorities and others
- regarding his activitics and_those of others in relaﬁon to the offense of conviction and other matters
on the following terms and conditions: -
{a) Mr. Powers shall cooperate fully, truthfully, completely and forthﬁghtiy with the
‘United States Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of Ohio and other Federal, state and local
law enfofcemcnt authorities identified by this Office in any and z-z.ll ‘matters as to which the
Government deems the cooperatidn relevant. Mr. Powers acknowledges that his cooperation may
'iﬁclude, b_ﬁt will not necessarily be limited to: answering questions; providing swém written
statements; iﬂcing government administered polygraph examination(s); and participating in covert
jaw enférccmcnt activi;ties‘ Any refusal by Mr. Powers to cooperate fully, n'uth.ﬁlllf, completely anﬁ
forthri ghti_y as.dirccted by this Office and other Federal, state and local law enforcement authorities
identiﬁed by this Office {n any and all matters in which thc Government deems his assistance
relevant will constitute a breach of this agreement by Mr, ?o-wers, and will relieve the Gov-emrnent
of its obligations under this agreement or any- other agreement (such as an agreement under Section
5K 1.1 of the United States Sentencing Guidelines) between the parties whether entered before of
.after this agresment. Mr. Powers agrees, however, that such breach by him will not constitute a
basis for withdrawal of -his plea of guilty or otherwise relieve him of his obligations under this

agreement.
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(b) Mr. Powers shall pm’mpt]y tum over to the Government or other law
enforcement authoritieé or direct such law enforcement aﬁthon'ties to anﬁf and all avideﬁce of crime;
all contraban& aﬁd proceeds of crime; and all assets iraceabie to such proceeds of crime. Mr.

APowers agrees to the forfeiture of all assets which aré pl;oceacis of crime or traceable to such
proceeds of crime and all instruments that he used to aid him in.,commjttjng the crimes. |

{c) Mr. Powers' shall submit & full a;nd complete accounting of all of his ﬂnancigl
assets, whether such assets are in his name or in the name of a third party.

(d) Mr. Powers shall testify fully, completely and truthfully before any and all Grand
Jury(ies) in the Southern District of Ohio, and elsewhere, and at any and all trials of cases or other
court proceedings in the Southern District of Chio and elsewhere, at which his testimony may be
deemed relevant by the Govgm ent. | |

{e) Mr. Powers understands and acknowledges that nothing in this agreement allows
him to commit any criminal violation of local, state or Federal law during tile' period of his
cooperation with law enforcement authorities or at any time prior‘to the sentencipg in this cése. The
commission of a criminal offense during the period of Mr, Powers’ _coopera.ti-on or at any time prior
to sentencing will constitute a breach of this plea agreement and will relieve tixe Government of all of
its-obligations under this agreement or under any other agreement between the pa.rtiés {(including any
potcnﬁél Section 5K 1.1 of the Sentencing Guidelines and/or 18 U.S.C. § 3553(e) agreement). Mr.
Powers acknowledges, however, and agrees that such a breach of this agreement will not entitle him
to withdraw his plea of guilty or relieve him of his obligations under this agreement. Mr. Powers

~ further undf_:rstands that, to establish a breach of this agreement, the Govemrﬁent need only prove his

commission of a criminal offense by a preponderance of the evidence.
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(D) Finally, Mr. Powers’ cooperation also includes making restitution in this matter

in a schedule and amount to be cieteimined by the Court.
4. While no éubstantial assistance motion has bcenrpromised by the United States, the parties
have discussed that Mr Powers could qualify for such 2 motion if he pro#ides the United States
~with substantial assistance. Mr. Powers agre'es' to and understands the following: that only the
United States Attomcy, in its sble discretion, may apply for a downward departure from the
Guideline sentence pursuant fo Sentencing Guiaelinc § 5K1.1 and that only the Uni:Led States
Attorney may, within one year of sentencing and at the sole discretion of the United States Attorney,
file a motion for reduction of sentence pursuant to Rule 35(b) of the Federal Ruies of Criminal
Procedure, to reﬂcct'substaﬁtial assistance to the United States subsequent to sentencing. The
defendant understands that the determination of whether he has provided substantial assistance
pursuant to Section 5K1.1 of the Sentencing Guidelincs, Rule 35(b), or 18 U.S.C. § 3553(e), is
within the sole discretion of the United States Attorney's Office for the., Southern District of Ohio
| and is not i‘eviéwable by the Court. The .defendant agrees that in the event the United Statés files
such a motion, he will not contest the recommendation of the govcmmeni as to the sentencing level
and Will’not seek 1o go below the sentencﬁng level recommended by the government., The defendant
further understands that if the Government does not file a motion for downward departure tk'ie- Court
has no authority to grant a downward departure, under Section 5K1.1 of the Sentencing Guidelines,
Rule 35(b) or 18 US.C. § 3553(3). In any event, the defendant agrees not to seek a downward
departure, without Government motion, based on any assistance provided in the investigation(s) br ‘
prosecutiori(s) of another person(s) who has committed a Federal, state, local or any other offense.

The defendant agrees and acknowledges that if this Office chooses not to file 2 substantial assistance
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departure motion it shall not be grounds for the defendant to move to withdraw his plea of guilty in
this case or otherwise relieve him of hi§ obligations under this agreement.

53, In exchange for the defendant’é plea of guilty and c'ompletc cooperation, the United States
Attorney for the Southern District of Ohio agrees that, after éentence has been fmposed on the
information, he will not file any additional c':harges. against the defendant based on the defendant’s
conduct as described in the Information and Statement of Facts. This Agreement does not prétect the
defendant frofn prosecution for perjury, false statement, oi)struction, or any other such charge for
conduct after the date of this A greement,

6. No promiées have been made to the defendant that he will receive probation or that he will
receive a lighter sentence on account of his plea of guilty.

7. The defendant understands and agrees that the sentence will be imposed in conformity
with the Federal Sentencing Guidelines and Poliéy Statements thérehaaﬁer “Sentencing Guidelines™),
and that the applicable guidelines will be determined by the.Cbuft relﬁng in part on the results of a
Pre-Sentence Investigation by the Court’s probation office, which investigation will éommcnce after
the guilty plea has been entered. The defendant is alse aware that, under certain circumstances, the
Court may départ from the applicéb]c guideline fange and impose a sentence that is either more
severe or less sc;rere than the gutdeline range. Defendant waives any constitutional challen geto the
S‘entencing Guidelines, waives indictment and trial by jury on all findin gs relevant to séntencing, and
agre_es that the Court may make all such ﬁndings by a preponderance of the evidence based on any
rc::h'able evidcﬁce, including hearsay. Defendant understands and acknowledges that the Court has
the authority to impose any senlence up to the statutory maximum authorized by law and that the

defenidant may not withdraw the plea. solely as a result of the sentence imposed. Defendant
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acknowledges that he has discussed this waiver and its consa;quences fully with his attorney and that
he understands the nature aﬁd consequences of the waiver. |

8. The parties hereby state, pursuant to Sentencing Guideliner§ 6B1.2(a), that the charge to

.Which the defendant is pleading guilty adequateiy reflects the seriousness of the readily provable
actual offense behavior and that the acéeptanée of the Agreement by tfxe Court will not undermine
the statutory purpeses of sentencing.

9. The defendant understands that the matter of sentence is reserved solely to the District
Court and that the Court could impose the maximum pe.ha}ty. No promises or representations have
been made to the defendant as to what sentence the Court will impose.

10. rThc defendant agrees to pay the $100.00 special assessment Lo the Clerk of the United
States District Court for each count to which he pleads guilty no later th_an the date ofhis sentencing.

11. By signing this document, the défcndﬁnt acknowledges the truth of the attached
Statement of Facts.

12. Thé United States agrees that it will recommend that tﬁe defend.ant be provided credit for
acceptancé of responsibility pursuant to Section 3E1.1 of the Sentencing Guidelines, based upon the
defendan_t’s recognition and afﬁﬁnative and timely ‘acccptancc of personal responsibility. The
United States, however, will not be required to make these santeﬁcing recommendations if any of the
following bccurs:- (1) defendant fails or refuses to make a full, accurate and complete disclosure to
this ofﬁc_é 01; the probation'ofﬁce of the circumstances surrounding the reievant offense conduct and
his breseﬁt financial condition; (2) defendant is found to have misrepresented facts to the
government prior to entering his plea agreement; (3) defendant commits any misconduct after

 entering into this plea agreement, including, but not limited to, committing a state or Federal offense,
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violating any term of release, or making a false statement or misrepresentation to any government
entity or official; or (4) defendant fails to comply with any of the terms of this plea agresment. If'the
defendant continues to accept responsibility through the time of sentencing and continues to comply
with all the terms of this agreement including the aforementioned provisions of this paragraph, the
United States will file a motion pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3EL.1(b) stating to the District Court that the
defendant has timely notified authorities of his intentiqn to plead guilty.

13, The United States and the defendant sﬁ'pulatc and recommend that the Court adopt the
following calculation under the Sentencing Guidelines:

Bapk Fraud

The applicable Guideline is § 2B1.1 (Guidelines effective November 1, 2002). The

base offense level under § 2B1.1 is six; plus eighteen levels because the intended loss

was over $2,500,000 (§2B1.1{(b}(1)(J)}; plus two levels because there were more than

10, but less than 50 victims (§2B1.1(b)(2)(A)), causing a final level of 26,

T.ax Evasion

The applicable Guideline is § 2T1.1 (Guidelines effective November 1, 2002). The-

base offense level for more than $30,000 Tax Loss is 14 ("2T4.1); causing 2 final

level of 14. ,

Combined Offense Level

To determine the combined offense fevel, the parties have applied § 3D1.4 of the

- Guidelines. Under § 3D1.4, the Bank Fraud (level 26) counts as one-unit group

because it has the highest offense level.  The tax evasion (level 14) is disregarded

because it is more than nine levels “less serious than the Group with the highest

offense level. Thus, there is one-unit, which means there is no increase in offense

level under § 3D1.4 causing a final offense level of 26.
The parties stipulate and recoinrncnd that no other upﬁrard or downward adjustments or departures

apply. There is no stipulation or recommendation about the defendant’s criminal history. The

defendant fully understands that, after investigation and review, the Court may determine that the
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offense factors and recommendations listed anywhere in this plea agreement are not appropriate and
1s not obrligated to accept such. In that event, the dafcndant fully understands that he shall not have
the ﬁght to withdraw his guilty plea.

14, In the event that the defendant does not plead guilty, the déefendant agrees and
understands that he thereby waives any protection afforded by Section IBI.S(ﬁ) of the Sentencing
Guidelines and Rule 11(f) of the Federal Rules of Crimi:;al Procedure, and thatr any statements made
by him as part of the plea discussions or as part of his cooperation with the government will be
adnusmbie agamst him without any Inmtanon in any civil or criminal proceeding.

15. The defendant is aware that Title 18, United States Code, Section 3742, affords the
defendant the right to appeal the sentence imposed in this case. Acknowledging this, in exchange for
the undertakings made by the United Slates in this plea agreement, the defendant hereby waivesall
rights conferred by Title 18, United States Code, Section 3742, to appeal any sentence imposed, o1 to

appeal the manner in which the sentence was imposed, unless the sentence exceeds the maximum

‘permitted by statute. This appeal waiver includes a waiver of the right to appeal the sentence on the

ground that the sentencmg gu1dehnes are in any respect unconstitutional, or on thc grounds that any
fact found by the Court at sentencing was not alleged in thc mdictment admitted by the Defendant
found by ajury, or found beyond a reasonable doubt, The defendant further understands that nothing
in this agreement shall affect the government’s right and/or duty to appeai as set forthin 18 U.S.C. §
3742(b). However, if the United Stales appeals the defendant’s sentence pursuant to Sec';ion
3742(b), the defendant shall be released from the above waiver of appellate rights. The defendant

understands that, although the defendant will be sentenced in conformity with the Sentencing
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~ Guidelines, by this agreement the defendant waives the right to appeal the sentence on the basis that
the seﬁtence is the result of an incorreqt application of the Sentencing Guidelines.

16, This A greement does not resolve any civil Hability of the defendant for tax, interest, and
penalties relating to income from the offense of conviction or any other source, The defendant
acknowledges that as part of the complete'cooperalion promised by him in this Agreement, he is
obligated to give complete cooperation to Federal, state, and local tax autlxo_riﬁes in the
determination of hjsrtaxab‘le income and déterfﬁinatidn and payment of any apjalicable tax, interest,
and penalties. The defendant agrees as part of his complete cooperation to file accurate tax refums
for himself, amending refurns if ﬁéceésary, by April 30, 2005, Additionally, the defendant agrees, as
part of his complete cooperation, that he will coopérate fuily with the Internal Revenue Service as
follows:

a.- Defendant agrees tﬁ pay restitution of tﬁe tax due and owing, together with any interest

aﬁd penalties finally determined to the Department of Treasury, Internal Revenue Service.

The defendant agrees to pay all -Fedcrai, state and local taxes due and owing for tax years
- 2000, 2001, and 2002. Tlhe defendant agrees, as a term of hlS suﬁervised ;clcaéa, to make
all reasonable efforts fo pay the tax iiability due and ovﬁng to the Internal Revenue

Service as a result of the offenses to which he is pleading guilty, including any relevant

conduct amounts. Such payments will be completed within the period of his sﬁpervised

release. In the event the defendant is unable to completely pay the tax hability prior to
termination of the supcrﬁsed release period, .hc agrees to make regular monthly payments
toward such liability in an amount to be determined by the Couﬁ at sentencing. Such

amount will be set in accordance with the defendant's financial ability.
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b, Defendant égrees to provide the IRS Examination Division, prior to sentencing, with all
requested documents and informaﬁon for the purpose of a civil andit.

¢. Defendant agrees that subparagraphs a and b are appropriafc conditions of supervised
release, |

d. Defendant agrees that he will make no ﬁbj ection to the entry of an order under
Fed R.Crim.P. 6(5}(3) permitting the IRS Criminal Investigation Division to disclose .to the
TRS Examination Collection Divisions {for purpos-cs of é civil audit) all of the documents
obtained, and the IRS reports produced, during the criminal investigation, whether or not
such documents or reports are considered to be grand jury material within the meaning of
Rule 6(5)_(3).

¢. Nothing in this agreement shall limit the Intemal Revenue Service in its coliection of any

taxes, penalties or interest due from the defendant.

10
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17. This written Agreement embodies all of the agreements and understandings between the

United States Attorney for the Southern District of Ohio and the defendant. No conversations,

discussions, understandings, or other documents extraneous to the Agreement shall be considered

part of this Agreement.

GREGORY G. LOCKHART
United States Attorney

ey
AMULR. THAPAR (DCA459489)
Assistant United States Attorney
221 East Fourth Street, Suite 400
Cincinnati, Ohio 45202

(513) 684-3711

DONALD POWERS
Defendant

JACK ENSTEIN
Attornty for the Defendant
7 West Seventh Street
Suite 1850

Cincinnati, Ohio 45202
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STATEMENT OF FACTS

UNITED STATES v. DONALD POWERS

Bctwcep on or about January ]f 2000, and on or about July 22, 2003, Donald Powers aided
others in a scheme to defraud various federally insured financial institutions by, among other things,
knowingly .subm-itting false Housing and Urban Development -forms to those financial institutions in
support of a loan application. The scheme involves the “ﬂipping” of low-value homes located in the
greater Cincinnati, Ohio, area.

A brief summary of the scheme is as follows: (1) a person would purchase a piece of real
estate at a low value, g.2., $20,QOO; (2) he/she, or someone else involved in the scheme, would then
recruit a buyer for that property, usnally soﬁneonc that could not afford to otherwise pufchase real
estate, or an individual interested in propérties as an investor; (3) after finding the rbuyer, one of the
co-conspirators would create false documents, including pay stubs, W-2 forms, bank statements, and
employment verifications; (4) the co-conspiratdrs would then obtain a falsely inflated appraisal for
the subject propérty; and (5) the co-consﬁirators would then submit the .fﬂlse loan package tp the
bank or lender for that same property in order to obtain a highly inflated loan, e.g. $85,000 (for the
property that was usually sold only months before for $20,000).

M. Powers furthered this scheme by serving as the owner of a Title Company that closed
many of these loans._ Mr. P;wers also seﬁcd as the sellelr‘ of several “flipped” properties. Mr,
Powers puréhased properties 'at market value, or allowed the ﬁIOperties to be purchased and placed in
his name, and then sold them at artificially inﬂat.ed values, During these iransactions, he was aware
that fictitious and/or fraudu]ent appraisals were submitted to the financial institutions in furtherance

of this scheme. In addition, during several of the closings, Mr. Powers signed various forms

12
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containing false information, including a Departmenf of Housing and Urban Development Form

“known as a HUD-1 Settlement Statement. That form: usually indicateq that the buyer brought the
down payment to closing. Mr. Powers knew that the buyer did not bﬁng the down payment, but
rather someone else involved in the scheme brought the down payment, Moreover, Mr. Powers was
aware that the buyer often received a "‘kiﬁ:{ﬁack” outéide.of the closing, v;rhich was not disclosed to
the lender. Thus, Mr. Powers aided others in a scheme to ciefraud financial institutions.

In furtherance of this conspi_racy, on or about September 5, 2001 , Donald Powers purchased |

| the property-located at 1794 Carll Street in Cincipnati, Ohio, fbr $37,000. OnDecember 11, 2001,
. Mr. Powers sold the property to Patrick Goedde for $78,000. According to the HUD-1 Settlement
Sfé.tement, Mr. Goedde brought a down payment of $11,659.67 to the closing. In reaiity, Mr.
Goedde d;d not provide the funds used to make the down payment on this property. Mr. Powers
signed the HUD-i as the seller of ﬂlﬂ property knm;ving the document was false. The loan packaéeg

| were submi_ttcd to First Union Mortgage Corporation,‘ which at the time was a division of First Union
Bank, whose deﬁosits were insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (First Union Bank
has since merged ﬁth Wachovia Corporation, whose deposits are also federally insured). Mr, _ '
Powers’ actions were committed in furtherance of a scheme to defraud F irsf Union.

Also in furtherance of this conspiracy, on or about November 6, 2001, Donald Powers
purchased the; property locate& at 2283 Loth in Cincinnati, Ohio for $6,000. On May 17,2002, Mr.
Powers sold the property to William Graham for $1 10,000; Accprding to the HUD-1 Scttlcinént
Statement, Mr, Graham brought a down payment of 3$11,808.46 to the closing. In reality, Mr.
Graham did not ﬁrovidc the funds used to make the down payment on this property. Mr, Powers

signed the HUD-1 as the seller of the property knowing the document was false. The loan package

13
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was submitted to ABN Amro whose dcpcsits- were then insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance |
Corporation. Mr, Powers’ actiofis were committed in furtherance of a scheme to defraud ABN Amvro.
The United States and Mr. Powers agfee that, as a result of his fraud, he caused an actual
and/or intended loss to various financial and lending institutions of $3,492,217.59,
In addition, M. Powers willfully filed false individual income tax returns with the Internal
Revenue Service for the years 2001 and 2002, Dunng these years Mr. Powers received payoffs from

the fraudulent loan procecds and from others mvolved inthe scheme. Mr. Powers failed to provide

his return preparer with complete and aceurate information regarding all of the payments he received.

As aresult, Mr, Powers failed to report a substantial amount of income on his individual tax returns,
thereby causing his taxable income to be understated by $38,657 in 2001 and $53,094 in 2002.

Thus, Mr. Powers willfully understated his tax liability in the aggregate amount of $34,217 for the

- years 2001 and 2002.

All of the aforementioned conduct ocourred in the Southern District of Ohio.

I have reviewed the above statement of facts with my attorney. I agree to the
accuracy of the statement of facts and acknowlcdge the truth of the statement of facts
as detailed above.

W/

DONALD POWERS

14
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FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIQ

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ) o

V.
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. Prepared for:
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Amul R Thapar, Esq.
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Making a False Statement on a Lodn A'pp.li_c'atimi, a Class

B Felony, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1014, PENALTIES: Up
to 30 years imprisonment, a $6,984,435.18 fine, a period of -

- supervised release not more than five years, a $100 special
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Filiﬁg a False Income Tax Return, 4 Class D Felony, m
violation of 26 U.5.C. §7206(1). PENALTIES: Up to 5 years

 imprisonment, a $250,000 fine, the costs of prosecution,

Testitution, and a mandatory $100 special assessment

Powers was released on an Own Recognizance Bond on April
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None

None
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RE: POWERS, Donald
PART A. THE OFFENSE -

Chérdes and Conviction

1. OnFebruaryl 2005, theUmted States Attorneyforthe Sotithern District of Ohio, WestemD1v131on )
filed atwo count Infonnaﬂon charging Donald M. Powers, J1. as defendant

2. Count 1 charged that on or about September 5, 2001, the defendant was charged with Makiﬁg a
" False Statement on a HUD-1 Settlement Statement, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1014. The purpose
of the false statement was to defraud a mortgage company with regard to a loan,

3. C‘ounu. 2 charged the defendant with Filing a False Tax Return, in violation of 26 U.8.C. §7206(1).
This behavior is alleged to have occurred on October 17, 2003 and was in regard to his 2002 U.s.

Indlwdual Income Tax Return, Form 1040,

4, . OnApril 18,2005, the defendant appeared in U.S. District Court and pled guﬂty to Counts 1 and 2.
puirsuant to a plea agresment. The plea agreement outlined the basic elemnents of the defendant’s plea
- of guilty, including maximum penalties, requirement of special assessment fees, and agreements
regarding the defendant’s cooperation. He agreed to cooperate with the government by providing
complete information to authorities; turning over to the government all evidence, contraband and
assets of his crime; submitting to a full accounting of His financial assets; testifing before a Grand

Jury; and making restitution on a schedule and amount to be determined by the Court. -

5. While no substantial assistance motion has been promised by the United States the parties have
discussed that Mr. Powers could qualify for such a motion ifhe provides substantial assistance. The
defendant understands that the U.S. Attorney has the sole discretion to file the motion pursuant to
5K1.1 and/or Rule 35 (b) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. If the U.S, Attorney files a
motion, the defendant agreed not to contest the government’s recommendation as fo the departure.
The defendant understands that his sentence will be imposed in conformity with the Federal
Sentencing Guidelines and Policy Statements. ‘The applicable guidelines will be determined by the
Court relying in part on the results of a presentence investigation by the Court’s probation office.
The defendant waived any consutu‘clenal challenoe to the Sentenemg Guidelines.. |

6. = Bysigningtheplea agreement, the defendant acknowledged the truth of the Statement ofFacts. The

' United - States agreed to recommend that the defendant be provided credit for acceptance of

responsibility pursuant to 3E1.1, based on the defendant’s recognition and affirmative acceptance

of personal responsibility. If the defendant continues to accept responsibility through the time of

sentencmg, the United States will file a motion pursuant to 3E1.1(b) stating to the Court that the
defendant has timely notified authorities of his intention to plead guilty.
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The parties stipulate and recommend that the Court adopt a certain set of guidaliné calculations

which result in a total offense level of 26 before the application 6f 3E1.1. There is no stipulation
regarding the defendant’s criminal history, The defendant waived his right to appeal pursuantto 18

' U.S.C. 3742. However, ifthe government appeals the defendant’s sentence, the defendant’s waiver
--is void: The plea agreement does not resolve any civil liability of the defendant for tax, interest; and

penalties relating to income from the offénse of conviction or any other source. The defendant

- agreed as part of his complete cooperation to ﬁle accurate tax returns for himself, amending retums

if necessary, by April 30, 2005.

The defendant agreed o pay restitution of the tax due and owing, together with any interest and
penalties determined by the Dept. of Treasury, Internal Revenue Service. As apart ofhis supervised
release, the defendant will make reasonable efforts to pay the tax liability due to the IRS. The
defendant shall complete these payments by the end of his supervised release. Ifhe isunable io do
50, he shall continue to make monthly payments as st by the Court af the time of sentencing. The
payments will be in accordance with his ability to pay. The defendant will cooperate with the IRS
with regard to a civil audit. There are no other understandings with regard to this case.

Pretrial Adjustment

The defendant was released on his own recognizance on April 18, 2005 with conditions. He has
complied with his bond conditions thus far.

‘Related C_ases

' The Unité.d States Attorney for the Southern District of Olo filed a one count Information agajnst

Kristine Neff on October 13, 2003 in case number CR 1-03-130. Neff entered a plea of guilty to the
one count Information on December 17, 2003, She is presently awaiting sentencing before the

~ Honorable Susan J. Dlott, U.S. District Jndge.

The United States Attorney forthe Southern District of Ohio filed 2 one count Information against
Lisa Holderman-Powers on October 15, 2003 in case number CR 1-03-131. Holderman-Powers
entered a plea of guilty to-the one count Information on December 18, 2003. She is presently

‘awaiting sentencing before the Honorable Susan J. Dlott, U.S. District Judge.

- The United States Attorney for the Southern District of Ohio filed a three count Information against

Steven J. Minger on May 20, 2005 in case number CR 1-05-074. Minger entered pleas of guilty to
all three counts of the Information on June 9, 2005. He is presently awaiting sentencing before the

Honorable Susan J. Diott, U.S. Dlstnct Judge.
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The Offense Conduct

13. The prosecution of this case was the result 6f a joint mvestlgatlon conducted by the Federal Bureau
of Investigation (FBI), the Internal Revenue Service’s Criminal Investigation Division (IRS CID)

- and the United States Postal Inspection Service: - —- - - o

14.  Inearly 2003, a confidential source advised a special agent with the FBI that niumerous individuals,
title agencies, and mortgage brokers were involved in a mortgage fraud scheme, known as mortgage
flipping, in the Greater Cincinnati, Ohio area. As a result,the FBI along with IRS-CID and the

_ . _United States Postal Inspection Service initiated an_invéstigation. During the course of the. . _

investigation, agents executed search warrants at the offices of title agencies and mortgage brokers.
They also reviewed loan files obtained from lenders, physically viewed fhpped properties, and

: mterwewed numerous individuals.

15.  The ﬁlvesﬁgaﬁonrevcaléd the mortgages on approximately 800 properties were flipped from January
12000 to July 2003. The majority of these properties were located in very low socioeconomic or high

crizne neighborhoods. Participants who were involved in the scheme can be described as one of the
following: buyer; seller; title agent; mortgage broker; appraiser; or contractor, To imitiate the
fiipping scheme, aperson (hereafter referred to as the original buyer) would buy a piece of property

~at its true value. Subsequently, participants in the scheme would recruit a buyer for the property.

The individual who was recruited as the buyer was typically someone who did not have the ability

~ to purchase the property but had a good credit history.

16.  If the buyer did not have the ability to purchase the property but had a good credit history, a
mortgage broker, who was involved in the scheme, would cause false documents, including pay
stubs, wage earning statements, bark statements, and employment verification forms to be creatcd

- for the buyer, The false documents were created to make the ‘buyer look like someons who could
afford to purchase the property. The buyer was aware that the false documents were bemcr created

01'1 his/her behalf.

17.  Onée a buyer was secured, the original buyer of the property would typically have a contractor make
some very minor cosmetic repairs to, the property to give it the appearance that the property was
remodeled. On some of the properties, there was no repair wotk completed. The original buyer or
some other participant in the scheme would then have an appraiser, who was involved in the scheme,

appraise the property at an inflated value.

18.  After the buyer was secured and the inflated appraisal was completed, a loan package was submitted
to alender. The buyer would request a loan amount based on the inflated appraisal. As part of the
loan package, the buyer indicated he/she was going to make 2 down payment. In reality, the original

- buyer or someornie else iInvolved in the scheme provided the recruited buyer with the funds to make
the down payment. It was Important to give the impression that the recruited buyer was making the
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down payment because the lender was more inclined to approve the loan since the buyer had some
interest in the property. If the lender approved the loan request, a closing was scheduled with a title

company.

Atthe closing, the title agentknew the buyer was not making the down bayment and that the down- - --
payment was typically provided by the original buyer. Even though the title agent was aware the

- buyer was not making the down payment, the title agent indicated on a Department of Housing and

Urban Dévelopment Form (HUD-1 ssitlement statement) that the down payment was being paid by
the buyer. The false settlement statement was then submitted to the lender and the lender would

approve aloan in an amount that was overinflated for the property

For participating in the scheme, the recruited buycr would receive a cash payment, known as a
kickback. The original buyer, who was ultimately the seller of the property, received the greatest
financial benefit from this scheme becanse he/she received the balance of the lozn minus the cost
for the minor cosmetic repairs and the cash payments to the recruited buyers. Title companies and
mortgage brokers financially benefitted from the scheme byreceiving fees from the numerous loans
they processed. The title agents who worked for the title companies and the processors who worked
for the mortgage brokers did not receive any financial benefit for participatin g in this scheme other

than their salaries.

" As previously indicated, agents identified mortgages on over 800 properties being flipped from

January 2000 to July 2003. Since November 2003, 136 of these properties.have gone into
foreclosure. Out of the 136 properties that have gone into foreclosure, 115 of them have sold at
auctions and were bought by the lenders, who held the mortgages on the properties. The lenders
bought the preperties because they have to own the properties in order for them to pursue civil action

against the title msurance companies.

In reference to the 136 properties that have gone into foreclosure, various lenders initially approved
loans that totaled $10,758,740.60. The initial loan amount approved on thell5 properties that have
been sold at anction was $8,959,490.60. The lenders purchased the 115 properties for $4,986,000,
which represents the true value of all 115 properties. Based on these numbers, Ienders will lose, on
average, 44.35% of the value of each loan. Since all of the loans approved during this scheme were
30 year loans, the total number of victims and their respective losses will not be known until all of

~ these loans mature.

Individuals who own property in the neighborhoods where properties were flipped were also
victimized by this offense because they now own property inneighborhoods that contain foreclosed
property. Many of the foreclosed properties are abandoned which leaves them prone to vandalism
and crime. Addmonally, property taxes in certain newhborhoods were increased due to the sale of .

- properties-at inflated prices.

One particular title company that was involved in this scheme was Premier Land Title Agency, |
located at 5Village Square in Glendale, Ohio. Premier Land Title Agency was owned by Lisa and
Donald Powers, who is a licensed attorney with the State of Ohio, from September 2000 fo July

2003 Based on loan docurnents and mtcrwews with othcr participants in this scheme, there isa
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preponderance of the evidence to prove thdt 310 loans were closed at Premier Title that were a part
of the mortgage flipping scheme. Of these, Lisa Powers closed 45 loans and Kristiné Neff closed
an additional 77 loans from September 2000 to.July 2003 where it was falsely indicated that the
buyer made the down payment at the time of closing. The remainder of the loans were closed by

-other title agents:i- Donald Powers was accountable for ali the loans because he was the owner and
operator of the title agency. On the 310 loans, Don owers knew that lenders were bemc advised

that the buyers made down payments totaling §3,492,217.59. - - ' -

Of the loans closed at Premier Tille Agency,' 79 of the properties have gone into foreclosure.
Ther'efore lenders have been victimized by Donald Powers’ acticms

‘ Addltlonally, on ﬁve of the propertiés, Donald Powers served as the seller as well as the title agent.

[

For instance, on September Powers bought the property at 1794 Carl]l St m
Cincinnati, Ohio for $37,000. A few months later, on December 11, 2001, he sold the property to
Patrick Goedde for $78,000. Goedde was purported to have brought $11,659.67 as a down payment
for the purchase. Powers knew that the buyer had not provided the down payment for the loan.
However, he signed the HUD-1 knowing it contained false information. The loan package was

submltted to First Union Mortgage Corp. where it was approved

On November 6, 2001, Powers purchased 2283 Loth in Cincinnati, Ohio for $6,000.. He sold if en

.May 17 2002 for $110 000 to William Graham. The buyer was alleged on the HUD-1 to have

provided a down payment of $11,808.46.- However, he did not bring the down payment to the
closing, a fact that of which Powers was aware. This transaction defrauded ABN Amro, a mortgage

company. These two properties were part of the 310 loans described earlier.

Kristine Neff worked as a closing agent for Prenuier Land Title Agency from September 2000 to
early 2003. During this employment, Neff closed 77 loans where she knew the buyer did not make

the down payment. She also falsely indicated on the settlement statements involving these loans that
the buyers made down payments totaling $847,299.50. Lisa Powers taught Neffhow to falsify the

settlement statements. Neffalso knew Powers was falsifying settlement staternents when she closed

loans. However, there is not sufficient evidence to prove Neff knew how frequently Powers was

engaging in this practice. Neff knew the loan packages submifted by mortgage brokers contained

false wage earning statements, bank statements, pay stubs, and employment verification forms.

There is no evidence to prove Neff lmew the appraisals on the properties were nflated.

In this case, the. Govemment could prove that Donald Powers, Lisa Powers and Kristine Neff knew

that buyers wgre not making down payments as they indicated on the settlerent statements, The
Assistant United States Attornev further noted he does not believe he can prove that either Donald

or Lisa Powers or Neff intended to cause 2 loss to the Jenders in an amount equal to the total value
of the loans the lenders approved.
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Victim Impact

The lenders that approved loans that were closed by Premier Land Title Agency and eventually went
into foreclosure were victimized by this offense. These lenders include the following: ABN AMRO

- Mortgage Group; Accredited Home Lenders; Asgis Mortgage; Associates Home Equity Services;
Citifinancial Mortgage; Community Bank of Virginiz; D & M Financial Corporation; Enfrust

Mortgage; First Franklin Financial; First NLC Financial Services; First Union Mortgage
Corporation; Fremont Ihvestment and Loan, Indy Mac Bank, Ivanhos Finahcial Corporation;
Mortgage Bankers Service; North American Mortgage; Pinnacle Direct Funding; Shasta Financiel
Services; Sun American Mortgage; Wachovia-Mortgage Corporation; and Washtenaw Mortgage
Company. Premier Land Title Agency also closed loans for Midas Mortgage. Midas Mortgage was

* not victimized by this offense becanse it sold the majority of the loans closed by Premier Land Title

Agency to Trustcorp Mortgage Company. After Trustcorp purchased the loans from Midas
Mortgage, some of loans went into foreclosure. Thus, Trustcorp was victimized by this offense. The
President of Trustcorp submitted an Affidavit which indicated Trustcorp extended 27 mortgage loans
on properties that were closed by Premier Land Title Acency and Global Title Agency, Incorporated.
The President further noted that all 27 of the loans are in default and Trustcorp has instituted or will
be instituting foreclosure actions. Due to attorney fees and expenses incurred in investigating the
mortgage fraud scheme, the President estimated that Trustcorp’s loss will exceed $2,300,000. It was

noted this figure is subject to change sinee foreclosures and other acnons are ongoing.

The exact loss suffered by each lender is unknoivn because some of the lenders approved OthBI‘ loans
in this case which were not closed by Premier Land Title Agency. Furthermore, the exact number
of victims and their respective losses will not be known until all of the loans in this scheme mature
which will not be wmtil 2030 or later. Due to the uncertainty of the number of victims and their

losses, an order of restitution should not be ordered.

Individuals who own property in the nei ghborhoods where properties were flipp ed were victimized
by this offense because they now own property in neighborhoods that contain foreclosed property.
Many of the foreclosed propertles are abandoned which leaves them prone to vandalism and crime.
Additionally, property taxes in certain neighborhoods were increased due to the sale of properties

at inflated prices.

Adijustment for Obstruction of J ustice

There is no indication the defendant obstructed the administration of justice in this case.

Adiunstment for Acceptance of Responsihility

According to the defendant, he originally had a title company called Global Title with three or four

law partners. However, the defendant wasnt making enough money to support himself and his wife.
He and his wife left and formed their own title company, Premier Land Title. His wife was a hard

“worker and she brought in customers and did most of the work. He was the contact with

underwriters because he was the license holder. Soon after they started the company, they were

'
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approached by a real estate investor, Steve Minger, who ended up being a 1/3 partner in Premier

Title. He agreed to close 10 loans at Premier. After that, they began to do properties together.
Minger brought in buyers to purchase properties that he had for sale. The buyers were represented
to the defendant as having good credit scores. Minger also told the dcfcndant that the: buyers were

- bringing the down payment to closing. - - -

However, the defendant learned that the buyers were not providing the down payment. The

- defendant allowed a number of properties to be “flipped” at his title company. He admitted that he -

used his title company to defraud lenders. Money that he received at closing he split with Steve

e~ Minger... The defendant also admitied under reporting his_income on his_tax refurns. foriOOJ..and_

2002.

Offense Level Computation

‘Consistent with the Supreme Court holding in United States v. Booker and United States v, Fanfan

(125 S. CT. 738), the Sentencing Guidelines are advisory. Accordingly, the guideline calculations

- contained in the Presentence Report are to assist the Court in exermsmﬂ its discretion under 18

U.S.C. §6 3553(a)(1) through (a)(7).

U.S.8.G. § 1BL.11 states the Court should use the Guidelines Manual in effect on the date a

“*défendant is sentenced unless to do so would ¢reate problems with.ex post facto issues. United
States Sentencing Commission Guidelines Manual, effective November 1, 2002, has been usedin -

calculating the offense level in this case. United States Sentencing Commission Guidelines Mannal,
effective November 1, 2004, which is the most current, was not used due to ex post facto issues.

According to §3D1.1(a)(1), when a defendant has been convicted of more than one count, the Court
shall group the counts resulting in conviction into distinct groups of closely related counts by
applying the rules specified in §3D1.2.Count 2 carmot be grouped with Count 1 as the behavior is
not connected to the activities in Count 1. Therefore, the offense level will be determined separately.

Base Offense Level: The sentencing guideline for a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1014 is locafed_; at-

US.8.G. § 2B1.1. U.S.5.G. § 2B1.1(2) establishes a base offense leve] of six.

Specific Offense Characteristic: From September 2000 to early 2003, 310 loans were closed at
Premier Land Title Agency where it was falsely indicated the buyers paid the down payment.
Documentation was obtained by investigators which proves Powers falsely indicated on settlement
statements that buyers made down payments totaling $3,492,217.59. Pursuant to U.S.S.G. §
2B1.1(bY1)X7), the offense level is increased by 18 levels because the loss was more than

$2,500,000.
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Specific Offense Characteristic: From September 2000 to July 2003, Premier Land Title Agéncy

closed a total of 310 loans where the closing agent falsely indicated the buyer paid the down

payment. As a result of the frandulent actions of the defendant in this case, 42 lenders have besn

victimized. Pursuant to U.S.5:G. § 2B1.1(b)(2)(A), the offenselevel is 1ncreased bytwo levels since
~the offense mvolved more than 10 but less than 50 victims. - g

Victim Related Adjustment: None

Adjustment for Role in the Offense: During the commission of this offense, Powers was the part
owner of Premier Land Title Services. He allowed iliegal activity to take place at his agency and
signed HUD-1 forms that contained false information. However, there is no evidence that he
directed the actions of others or occupied a Ieadershlp role. Therefore, no role adJustrnent 18

applicable.

Ad Jjustment for Obstruction of Justice: None

Adjusted Offense Level (subtotal):

Count 3

Base Offense Level: The sentencing guideline for a violation of 26 U.S.C. § 7206 is located at
U.S.S.G. § 2T1.1. Note A under U.3.8.G. § 2T1.1, states that if the offense involved filing a tax
return in which gross income was under reported, the tax loss shall be treated as equal to 28 percent

_ of the unreported gross income plus 100% of any false credits claimed against taxes, unless a more .

accurate determination of the tax loss can be made. In this case, the Internal Revenue Service

calculated the tax loss as $34,217. U.S.8.G. § 2T1.1(a)(1) indicates the base offense level is
detenmined by the comresponding tax loss found at the tax table located at U.S.8.G. § 2T4.1.
Pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 2T4. 1 the base offense level is 14 because the tax loss was more than

$30,000.

Specific Offense Characterlstlc Pursuant to U.S.8.G. § 2T'1. I(b)( 1), the offenselevelis increased
by two levels if the defendant failed to report or correctly 1dant1fy the source of income exceeding
$10,000 in any year from criminal activity. In this offense, Powers failed to report incoms of
$38,657 in 2001 and $53,094 in 2002. Therefore, the offense level is increased by two levels,

pursuant to U.S.5.G. § 2T1.1(b)1).
Victim Related Adjustment: None
Adjustment for Role in the Offense: None

Adjustmenf for Obstruction of Justice: None

- Adjusted Offeﬁsg: Level (subtotal):

i (=]
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52.  Multiple Count Adjustment (see U.S:8.G. § 3D1.4):

Adijusted Offense Level Units .
Count1 ' 26 1
Count' 3 : 16 Q
Total Number of Units: 1

“Greater Adjusted Offense Level: 26 ‘ . 7
JIncreasein Offense Level O e L

53.  Pursunant to U.S.S.G. § 3D1.4, Application Note T'wo, the procedure for calculating the combined
offense level when there is more thah one group of closely related counts is as follows: 1) identify
the offense level applicable to the most serious group and assign it-one unit; 2) determine the number
of units that the remaining groups represent; 3) increase the offense level of the most serious group
by the number of levels indicated in the table corresponding to the total number of units.

54.  Combined Adjusted Offense Level: Pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3D1.4, no increase is made. 26
55.  Adjustment for Acceptance of Respbns_ibﬂity: The defendant admitted the Statement of Facts
' read in Court at the time he entered his plea of guilty is an accurate summary of his involvement in
the instant offense. He accepted responsibility for her criminal conduct. The Assistant United States -

~ Attorneyindicated the defendant entered a timely plea of guilty. Thetefore, pirsuant to U.S.S.G. §§
3E1.1(a) and (b), the offense level is decreased by three levels. ' S -3

56. Total Offense Level:

PART B. THE DEFENDANTTS CRIMINAL HISTORY

Juvenile Adjndications

. 57. . None -
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Adult Criminal Convictions

Noné

Criminal Historv COmputation

The defenidant has zero criminal histors y points. Accord ding to the Sentencing Table in Chapter Five,

Part A, zero or one cmnmal hlstory point results in a criminal history category of L

PART C. OFFENDER' CHARACTERISTICS

Personal and Farmilv Data

| Donald Powers, Jr. was born on April 26, 1963 on Clark Air Force Base in the Philippines. He'is

the youngest child of Donald Powers, St., age 78 and Ruth Powers, age 74. The defendant’s father
was a Department of Defense employee stationed at the Clark Air Force Base in the Philippines. The

* defendant’s parents still live in Philippines. They enjoy travel and come to the United States to visit

their children when they can. Mr. Powers underwent a bypass operation a few vears ago. Hetravels
to the United States for treatment of prostate cancer. The defendant has two sisters, Eizabeth Mits,

age 49, who resides in Cmcmnatl, Ohio and works for the Children’s Law Center in mediation; and

Jane Price, age 56, who lives in Greenville, South Carolina and works with her husband who is an -
attorney. They work with troubled children. The defendant’s sister, Elizabeth Mitts, previously
verified the deferidant’s social information. ‘

The defendant reported that during childhood tus parents hirec_i local persons to act as domestics in o
their home. These employees lived in the house and helped raise him and his sisters. The defendant
recalled that a Philippino dialect was spoken in his house. The family hved on base and off base,

- but in general he enjoyed living in the Philippines.

The dcfendant married Sheila Clauscn in 1_989. They divorced in 1996 in Covington, Kentucky.
Shortly thereafter, he met Lisa Holderman. She had two sons from 2 previous relationship. The

- defendant had neverhad children of his own. Hebecame an instant parent to Lisa’s children. They

were together for eight years marrying on December 3, 2000 in Fort Recovery, Ohio. The defendant
stated that he and Lisa were happy desplte being from two different worlds. The defendant was more
worldly than his wife. Their marriage started to change after they started their title company. They

. drifted apart and Lisa becran toparty a good deal of the time.

"On October 30, 2003, a Complaint for Divorce was filed by Donald Powers, Jr. in Hamilton County,

Ohio. Donald Powers, Iz, indicated in his Complaint that he was filing for divorce because his wife
was in violation of her marital duties and obligations and has been guilty of gross neglect of duty.
He also noted he and his wife were incompatible. Lisa Powers stated Donald Powers, Ir. filed for
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a divorbe because she found out that he was viewirig pomographic material and was going to strip
clubs. This marriage produced one child. Daughter, Abigail Powers, age 3 1/2, is currently in the
custody of Donald Powers, Jr. :

On-October 30,-2003; Donald Powers,; Ir--filed an Affidavit with the Hamilton County, Ohio
Domestic Relation Court requesting that he be the residential parent and legal custodian of Abigail
Powers.' In his Affidavit, DOnald Powers, Jr., noted that on June 14, 2003, Abigail Powers placed
a five milligram tablet of Valium in her mouth while she was under the supervision and control of
Lisa Powers. As aresult of this incident, Lisa Powers took Abigail Powers to Children’s Hospital
Medical Center. Abigail Powers was discharged on June 14, 2003 in good condition. Donald
Powers, Jr. also noted in his Affidavit that he was seeking custody of Abigail Powers because Lisa
Powers had a cocaine addiction. On November 24, 2003, a Magistrate Judge designated Dorald
Powers, Jr. as the residential parent of Abigail Powers. Lisa Powers indicated Donald Powers, Jr.
over-exaggerated the incidetit that occurred with Abigail on June 14, 2003 so that-he could get

custody of Abigail. Powers maintains Abigail found a Valium pill on the floor and placed it into her

month. Powers stated she took Abigail to the hospital as a precautionary measure. The couple now
shares parenting of Abigail. She spends equal amounts of time with each parent. '

Donald Powers is residing at 11651 Norbourne Dr. Apt. 515 in Forest Park, Ohio. A home
inspection was conducted at this residence. The apartmient was adequately furnished for the needs
of the defendant and hig daughter. The defendant has expressed that he would like to be sentenced
prior to his ex-wife in this case, so they will not have to be in prison at the same tinie.

thglcal Condltlon

The defendant stands 6' tall and weighs 225 pounds. He has brown eyes and brown hair. He has
a scar on his chin and in left eyebrow. The defendant suffers from diverticulitis. He is being treated ‘
by Dr. Steven Fessler. According to his records, the defendant was encouraged to pursue a health

fitness plan to combat his symptoms rather than taking medications.

Dr.J 08@ph Barrocas is his primary physician. Ambrding to his récords, the defendant has been

depressed as a result of the instant case and concems regarding visitation with his daughter. Dr,
Batrocas prescribed Lexapro in December of 2004 znd subsequently Paxil in January of 2005, He

has also prescribed Valium to be taken as needed for anxiety, The defendant is also seeing a

therapist. Additionally, e has a large thyroid nodule that will need to be removed through surgery.
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Mental and Emotional Health

The defendant has been in therapy with Craig Mankin at Family Services for a year. He helps the
defendant manage stress and combat substance abuse. Mankin provided that the defendanthasbeen -

- in-therapy with'him since November 3,2003. The defendant suffers from post-traumatic. stress

disorder related to hus legal situation. He also has adjustment disorder with depression, anxiety, and
social phobia. The defendant has also consulted with Dr. Leah Casuto, a psychlatnst with Fannly

Services reca.t'd.nc "nedmatlon

- Substance Abnse

The defendant began to use drugs when he was 15 years old living in the Philippines. He related that
drngs were readily available. He smoked marijuana and used pharmaceuticals, For 2 time, he was

~addicted to cough syrup and valium, It seemed to be normal to him at the time. Later he realized

that he was using drugs because he had not dealt with being molested by a house boy when he was

9 years old. He was sexually abused for one and one-half years. At the time he was using drugs, his
parent’s marriage was in frouble because of his mother’s gambling: Consequently, the other drug

users became his family. He continued to use into adulthood. Finally, in 1982, his parents brought

him to Cincinnati, Ohio where his sister lived and forced him to stay. They had dlSCOVGI‘Bd that he

was using drugs and were afraid for his welfare.

The defendant preéently drink_s alcohol in the evenings to go to sleep and to combat anxiety. |

_ _Educatlon and Vocatmnal Skills

' The: defendant reported that he graduated from Wagner High School at Clark Air Force Basein 1981.

He stated that he was the student body vice presu:lent

- OnMarch 19, 1989, the defendant received a Baohelor of Arts Degreein Internationai Affairs from

University of Cmcmnatl according to university records His grade point average was 3.095 cutof
4.0. :

On .December 14, 1996, the defendant was awarded a juris doctor. degree from Sahman P. Chase

College of Law in Highland Heights, Kentucky. His grade point average was 3.157 out of 4.0. The
defendant reported that he has allowed his law ficense to lapse.

Em Jovment Record

Smce August of 2003, the defendant has been employed as a consultant with Magee Title Acency
in Cincinnati, Ohio. He underwrites and examines titles for real estate transactions. The defendant’s

- salaryis $2,000 per month plus health insurance and use of' the company car. James McGee verified

the defendant’s employment and that he was aware of the defendant’s case. Deborah Profitt was



'ED

76.

77.

78.

American Express

RE: POWERS, Donald - ' . ' 13

interviewed regarding the defendant’s employment. She stated that the defendant is a great
smployee. He takes care of researching and clearing titles so the attorneys can concentrate on
closings. The defendant does not participate in closings in any way.

- From September 2000 to Tune 2003, Powers owned Premier Land Title Agency-with his wife; Lisa |

Powers. This business was the subject of the instant case. Internal Revenue Servicé records
indieated that in 2000, the defendant’s income was $39,842.00; in 2001, the defendant and his wife
had a joint income of $69,829.00. 1 2002, the defendant had an income of £$155,643.00. Fibally, -

in 2003, the defendant’s income had grown to 3346, 332.00.

The defendant was part owner of Global Title, Incorporated in Cincinnati, Ohio from 1996 until
1999. He remarked that he started this company with a couple of friends from law school. He
described his partners as “trust fund babies™. They didn’t care if they made money from the
business. The defendant finally left the company to start his own because of this situation.
According to IRS records, the defendant bad wages of $4,766. 00 in 1999.

From 1984 until 1995, the defendant Wwas a property manager for the Schott Co. earning $20 000

- A request for employment verification was returned as the company has movecL :

Fmanc:al Condition: Abxhg t_o Pay

The following information was provided in the form of documentation and a financial statement
submitted by the defendant. According to his credit report, a number of the accounts have been
turned over to a collection agency. Additionally, he has three Federal tax liens against him.

* Assets

Fifth Third Bank checking account R o C 3540.00
US Bark checking acoount - ' $10.00

Eaui.ty' i Other Assets

1999 Meroedes E320 L - | | $10,000.00

" TOTAL ASSETS . ’ $10,550.00

The defendant also owns 33% of Lisa Holderman- Powers, Inc and 50% of Premier Land Title
Services, Inc. However, the value of these holdmcrs 18 zero.

Liabilities
* Capital One Mastercard £1,030.00
$19,000.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES - ‘ | $20,030.00
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NET WORTH . | (39,480.00)

The defendant reported that he owes taxes to the IRS, the State of Ohio, the city of Cincinnati, and
the eity of Forest Park. He was unable to provide totals for these debts.

Monthlv Income
Defendant’s Wages o N $5.000.00
TOTAL MONTHLY INCOME | | $5,000.00

Necessary Monthly Expenses

Rent | | o - $799.00

Groceries 7 : _ $400.00
Blectric : $100.00
Gas , - $50.00
Water/Sewer $50.00
Renter’s Insurance _ $7.50
Clothing ' S : $100.00 -
Medical $160.00
Child’s Therapist : $140.00
Tax Payments : $2,050.00
TOTAL MONTHLY EXPENSES . $3,856.50
CASHFLOW ' S S , $1,143.50

If the defendant is incarcerated, he will not have the income to pay a fine in addition to his tax
obhvat;on.

ART D. SENTENCING OPTIONS

80.

81.

Custody

The Supreme Court held in United States v. Booker and United States v, Fanfan (125 S. CT. 738),
the Sentencing Guidelines are advisory. The guideline provisions contained in this section of the
report are submitted to assist the Court in exercising its discretion under 18 U.S.C. §§ 355 _-)(a)(l)

fhrough (a)(7).

Statutory Provisions: Count 1: The maximum term of imprisonzment is up to 30 years, pursuant

Cto 18 U.S.C. § 1014,
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Count 2: The maximum term of imprisonment of imprisonment is up to 3 years, i::ursuant to 26
U.S.C. 7206(1). '

Guideline Provisions: Based on a total offense level of 23 and a criminal history category of I, the
guideline imprisonment range is 46 to 57 months. -This range falls in Zone D of the' Sentencing
Table. U.S.S.G. § 5C1.1(f) provides if the applicable gmideline range is in Zone D of the Sentencing

Table, the minimum term shall be satisfied by a sentence of imprisoriment. :

impact of Plea Agreement

The plea agreement has no impact on the rruldelme Imprisonment range as all relevant conduct has
beun considered. .

Supervised Release

Statutory Provisions: Count 1: Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3583(b)(1), the authonzed term of -
supervised release is not more than five years.

Count 2: The authorlzed term of superwsed release is up to three years, pursuant to 18 T.S.C. §

- 3583(b)(2).

Ifatermof supervised'release 1s ordered, the Court must order a coqdition the'defendaht not commit
another federal, state, or local crime during the time of supervised release, and the defendant shall
not possess illegal controlled substances, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3583(d).

The Cowrt must also order the defendant to refrain from any unlawful useof a controlied substance
and submit to one drug test within 15 days of release on supervised release, and at least two periodic
drug tests thereafter. This condition may be ameliorated or suspended if the presentence report, or
other reliable sentencing information, indicates a low risk of future substance abuse on the part of
the defendant, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3583(d). Additionally, the defendant shall cooperate in the

. _collection of 2 DNA sample at the direction of the probatlon ofﬁcer [18U.S.C. 35 83(d)]

Pursuant to 18§ U.S.C. 3624(6) terms of superwsed relaase must run concurrcntly W1th each other
and any other term of community superwsmn : '

Guideline Provisions: Pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 5D1.1(a), the Court shall order a term ‘of supervised
release to follow imprisonment when a sentence of more than one year is imposed or required by
statute. The Court may order a term of supervised release to follow imprisonment in any other case.
Count I; The authorized term of supervised release for this offense is at least three years but not
more than five years, pursuant to U.S.5.G. § 5D1.2(a)(1). Count 2: The authorized term of
supervised release for this offense is at [east two but-not more than three years, pursuant to U.S.8.G.

§ 5D1.2(a)(2).
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Probation

Statutory Provisions: Counts 1 and 2: A pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3361(a)(1), the defendant is not
eligible for & term of probation in Count 1 because the offense is a Class B felony. Since the
defendant is not eligible for probation-in Count 1, he is not eligible for probation in Count 2,

- pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3561(2)(3).

Fines -

Statutory Provisions: Count.1: The maximum fine is not more than $6,984,433.18, pursuantte 18 .. ... ...

U.S.C. § 3571(b)(1). Count 2: The maximum ﬁne is $250,000 plus the cost of prosecution,
pursuant to 18 U.5.C. § 3571.

A special assessment of $1 OO is mandatory for each count for a total of $200 pursuant to 18U.S.C.
§ 3013

Guideline Provisions: Counts 1 and 2: Accordmg toU.S.5.G. § SEL 2(0)(3) and (4), the fine range
for this offense is $10,000 to $6,984,435.18.

The Court, in imposing a fine, should consider, among other criteria, the expected cost of any term
of imprisonment, probation, or supervised release, according to U.S.S.G. § 5E1.2(d). The most

' recent advisory from the Administrative Office of the United Statés Courts, dated April 15, 2005,

suggests monthly costs for imprisonment is $1,933.80; for commumty confinementis §1,675.23; and
$287. 73 for probatlon or supervised relcase - .

The cost of home conﬁnementfelectromc monitoring is $3.26 per day. |

U.S.8.G. § 5B1.3 states a special assessment must be imposed on a convicted felon in the amount
preseribed by statute. Since the defendant was convicted of a felony, 2.$100 specizl assessment is

owed, on each count.
Restitution

Statutory Provisions: Connt1: Due to the complex nature of this case, the amount of loss suffered
by each financial institution is still under investigation. Trust Mortgage Corporation has submitted
an estimate of their loss, but has not provided a final figure. Thus, the amount of restitution is
undetermined at this time. Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3664 (d)(5), if the victim’s losses are not
ascertainable by the date that is 10 days prior to sentencing, the attorney for the Government or the
probatlon officer shall so inform the Court, and the Court shall set a date for the final determination
of the victim’s losses, not to exceed 90 days after sentencing, If the victim subsequently discovers
further losses, the victim shail have 60 days after discovery of those losses in which to petition the
Court for an amended restitution order. Such order may be grantéd only upon a showing of good
cause for the failure to include such losses in the initial claim for restitutionary relief.

[
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99, Count 2: Pursnant to 18 U.S.C. §35_63, restitution may be ordered. If the defendant is sentenced to
a term of probation or supervised release; réstitution shall be a condition of supervision. In this case,

the defendant has a tax obligation of §34,217.00.

- 100. --Gﬁideline P‘rovisions;: Pursuant to §5ET4, festimtion'éhall be ordered.
PART E. FACTORS THAT MAY WARRANT DEPARTURE

101. N¢ departure issﬁes have been identified:

PART F. FACTORS THAT MAY WARRANT DEVIATION FROM THE ADVISORY
SENTENCING GUIDELINES - - -

102. There are no factors that would warrant a variance from the guideline imprisoﬁment range in this

casec.

Reviewed and Approved By: Respectfully Submitted By,

C. Cole, Supervising . Laura S. Jens ;J - '
ted States Probation Officer United States Pfobation Officer -



ADDENDUM TO THE PRESENTENCE REPORT
OF

DONALD POWERS, JR. [CR 1-05-011]

-The probation officer certifies herewith transmitted is the true and accurate final PresentenceReport - = =

and there are no unresolved objections. The Presentence Report has been disclosed to the parties.

Reviewed and Approved By: Reschtful v Submitted By:

cCxy %@ﬁ@ X qu,,.k_“

| C. Cole Superwsmg Laura S. Jensen
#ed States Probation-Officer United States Probation Officer
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United States District Court

Southern District of Ohio at Cincinnati

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE

V.
DONALD M. POWERS, JR, Case Number: 1:05¢cr11
USM Number; - 04113-061

Jack Rubenstein

Defendant's Attorney

THE DEFENDANT:

iv) pieaded guilty to count(s): 1 and 2. : _

i) pleaded nolo contendere {o counts(s) ___ which was accepted by the courn.
1] was found guilty on count(s) ___ after a plez of not gullty,

The defendant is adjudicated guilty of these offense(s):

Title & Section Nature of Offense Offense Ended Count
18 USC 1014 Making a malerial false statementin a

' loan application ' 09/2001 1
26 USC 72068{1) Filing a false Income Tax Return 10/2003 : 2

. The defendant is sentenced as provided in pages 2 through $ of this judgment. The sentence is imposed
pursuant to the Sentencing Reform Act of 1984,

[1 The defendant has been rou-nd not guilty on counts(s) ___ and is discharged as to such count(s}.

(1 Count(s) - (is)(are) dismissed on the motion of the United States.

1T 1S ORDERED that the defendant shall notify the United States Attorney for this district within 30 days of any
change of name, residence, or mailing address until all fines, restitution, costs, and special assessments imposed by this
judgment &re fully paid. If ordered to pay restitution, the defendant must notify the court and the United Stales Atlorney of
material changes in the defendant's economic circumstances,

October 24, 2005

Date of Imposition of Judgment

1 1 certify that this is a | l} /(5/5 2y 9% |
true and correct copy of the | - - -’Q'-' - :
original filed in my Office Slgnaturg qf Judicial Officer

on___ V0 =2 \-20bhk
JAMES BONINI, CLERK . SUSAN J. DLOTT, Uniled States District Judge

Name & Title of Judicial Officer

BY:
. Deputy < : :.]Z o
;_n.m-. - 2005 < O/”‘{%;;; L, 005
e v v v

EXHIBIT

G
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United States District Court

Southern District of Ohio at Cincinnati

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ' JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE
V.
DONALD M. POWERS, JR. Case Number: 1:06cr11
USM Number: 04113-061

Jack Rubenstein

Defendant's Attorney
THE DEFENDANT.:
[v] pleaded guilty to count{s): 1and2 . - _ _
[1 pleaded nolo contendere to counts{s) ___ which was accepted by the court.
[] was found guilty on count{s) ___ after a plea of not guilty,

The defendant is adjudicated guilty of these offense(s):

Title & Section - Nature of Offense Offense Ended Count
18 USC 1014 Making a material false statement in a .

: loan application 082001 1

26 USC 7206{1} -~ Filing a false Income Tax Return 10/2003 2

The defendant is sentenced as provided in pages 2 through 5 of this judgment. The sentence is imposed
pursuant 1o the Sentencing Reform Act of 1984,

11 The defendant has been found not guilty on counts(s) ___ and is discharged as to such count(s).

[ Count(s) ___{is)(are) dismissed on the motion of the United Staies.

IT IS ORDERED that the defendant shall nolify the United States Attorney for this district within 30 days of any
change of name, residence, or mailing address until all fines, restitution, costs, and special assessments imposed by this
judgment are fully paid. If ordered to pay restitution, the defendant must notify the court and the United States Attorney of
material changes in the defendant's economic circumstances. '

Oclober 24, 2005

Date of imposition of Judgment

11 certify that this is a | /6/ 9&#}
trgc_and correct copy of the - w’“’ ~9_ =
original filed in my Office S:gnalu%f Judicial Officer

lon \D -2 \-2obh”

JAMES BONINI, CLERK SUSAN J, DLOTT, United States District Judge
] 7 /) Narne & Title of Judicial Officer .

L0 LA LAY , :
Deputy CRIK . @dm 3/ 9?09\5—

L '
immz 33\’8 2005 Date 7

L
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CASE NUMBER: 1:05¢cr11 Judgment - Page 2 of §
DEFENDANT: DONALD M, POWERS, JR. ’

IMPRISONMENT

The defendant is hereby committed to the custody of the United States Bureau of Prisons 10 be imprisoned fora -
total term of 38 Months cn Count 1 and 36 Months on Count 2, to be served cencurrentiy:

The defendant shall participate in the Bureau of Prison's Inmate Financial Responsibility Program. The defendant shalt
participate in the Bureau of Prison's Residential Substance Abuse Treatment Program.

[¢1  The court makes the following recommendations to the Bureau of Prisans:
That the defendant be placed at Morgantown FCI or the closest appropriate facility with the Residential Substance
Abuse Treatment Program to Cincinnati, Ohio. ,

[ The defendant is remanded to the custody of the United States Marshal.
1 The defendant shall surrender to the United States Marshal for this district.
[Jat__on__. : '

[ ] as notified by the United States Marshal.

[+#] The defendant shall surrender for service of sentence at the institution designated by the Bureau of Prisons:
[v] before 2:00 p.m. on_January 8, 2006 .
[] as netified by the Unitad States Marshal but no sconer than
[ as notified by the Probation or Pretrial Services Office.

RETURN
| have executed this judgment as foliows:
Defandant delivered on___ to
at , with a celified copy of this judgment.

UNITED STATES MARSHAL

By

Deputy U.8. Marshal
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CASE NUMBER.: 1:05¢cri1 _ ] Judgment - Page 3 of 5
DEFENDANT: DONALD M. POWERS, JR.

SUPERVISED RELEASE

Upon release from imprisonment, the defendant shall be on supervised release for a term of 5 Years on Count 1 and 3 Years
on Count 2, to be served concurrently .

He must undergo mental health and substance abuse assessments and comply with any recommended treatment. The
defendant shalf not be permitted to open any new lines of credit or make purchases on existing lines of eredit without permission from
his probation officer, He must disciose all financial information requested by his probation officer. The defendant shall serve 800
hours commumty service, Wherever possible, community service should be for a charity that serves the neighborhoods affected by this
scheme and that is dedicated to restoring property values, promoting better housing conditions, or expanding home ownership, such as
Habitat for Humanity. Specific assignments will be at the discretion of the ‘probation office, after conferring with the Coust, Pursuant
to the Court’s authority under 18 U.S.C. § 3583(d), the Court orders that the defendant be barred from working in real estate lending or
sales for the entire term of the defendant’s supervised release. The Court further orders that, if the defendant has a reat estate license in
any state, notice of the defendant’s conviction and sentence be reported to that state's real estate licensing agency.

The defendant must report to the probation office in the district.to which the defendant is released within 72 hours of release from the
custady of the Bureau of Prisons. .

The defendant shall not commit another federal, state, or local crime.
The defendant shall not illegally possess a controlied substance. The defendant shall refrain from any unlawiul use of a controlled

substance. The defendant shail submit to one drug test within 15 days of releasa from imprisonment and at least two pericdic drug
tests thereafter, as determined by the Court,

[] The above drug testing condition is suspended, based on the court's determination that the defendant poses a low risk of
‘ future substance abuse. (Check, if applicable.}
v] The defendant shall not possess a firearm, destructive device, or any other dangerous weapon. {Check, if applicable.)
v The defendant shall cooperate in the collection of DNA as directed by the probation officer. {Check, if applicable.)
[] The defendant shall register with the state sex offender registration agency in the state where the defendant resides, works, or

is a student, as directed by the probation officer. {Check, if appiicable.) _
13 The defendant shall participate in an approved program for domestic violence. (Check, if applicable.)

If this judgment imposes a fine or restitution, it is a condition of supervised release that the defendam pay in accordance with the
Schedule of Payments sheet of this judgment.

The defendant must comply with the standard conditions that have been adopted by this court as well as with any addlttona% conditions
on the attached page.

STANDARD CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION

1) the defendant shall not leave the judicial district without permission of the court or probation officer;
2) the defendant shall report to the probation officer and shadl submlt a truthful and complete written report within the first five days of
each month;
3)  the defendant shall answer truthfully all inguiries by the probation officer and follow the instructions of the probation officer;
4) the defendant shalt suppart his or her dependants and meet other family responsibilities;
B} the defendant shall work regularly at a lawful cccupation, unless excused by the probation officer for schoaling, training or other
acceptable reasons;
6) the defendant shall notify the probation officer at least ten days prior to any change in residence or employment;
7)  the defendant shall refrain from excessive use of alcohol and shall not purchase, possess, use, distribule, or administer any
controlled substance or any paraphernalia related to any controlled substances, except as prescribed by a physician;
- B) the defendant shall not frequent places where controlled substances are illegally sold, used, distributed, or administered;
9) the defendant shall not associate with any persons engaged in criminal activity, and shall not associate with any person convicted
: of a felony unless granted permission to do so by the probation officer;
10) the defendant shalt permit a probatlon officer to visit him or her at any time at home or slsewhere and shall permit confiscation of
" any contraband observed in piain view of the probation officer; '
11} the defendant shall notify the probation officer within seventy-two hours of being arrested or questioned by a law enforcement
officer,
12) the defendant shall not enter into any agreement to act as an informer or 2 special agent of a law enforcement agency without the
permission of the court;
13) as directed by the probation officer, the defendant shall notify third parties of risks that may be oceasioned by the defendant’s
criminal record or personal history or characteristics, and shall permit the probation officer to make such notifications and to
confirm the defendant's compliance with such nofification requirement.
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CASE NUMBER: 1:05¢r11 ) Judgment - Page 4 of 5
DEFENDANT: DONALD M. POWERS, JR. :

CRIMINAL MONETARY PENALTIES

The defendant must pay the total criminal monetary penalties under the Schedule of Payments on Sheet 6.

) Assessment Fing - Restitution
Totals: ' $ 200.00 $ 150,000.00 $1,643,883.00

[v] The determination of restitution is deferred until January 20, 2005 at 11:00 a.m. An amended Judgment in a Criminal
- Case (AO 245C) will be entered after such determination. :

[v] The defendant must make restitution (including community restitution) to the following payees in the amounts listed
below. ' ' '

If the defendant makes a partial payment, each payes shall receive an approximately proportioned payment unless
specified otherwise in the priority order of percentage payment column below. However, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §
3664(i), all nonfederal victims must be paid before the United States is paid. -

*Total
Name of Fayee Loss Restitution Ordersd  -Priority or Percentage
internal Revenue Service 34,217.00 ) 34,217.00
Trustcorp Mortgage 1,609,666.00 1,609,666.00

TOTALS: $ 1.643,883.00 $.1,643.883.00

[1 Restitution amount ordered pursuant to plea agreement L .

0 The defendant must pay interest on restitution and a fine of more than $2500, unless the Testitution or fine is paid in
full before the fifteenth day after the date of judgment, pursuantto 18 U.S.C. §3612(f). All of the payment options on
Sheet 6 may be subject to penalties for delinquency and default, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §3612(g). -

[v] The court determined that the defendant does not have the ability to pay interest and it is ordered that:

[v? The interest requirementis walved forthe [v] fine [v] restitution.

[] The interest requirement forthe [] fine [ restitution is modified as follows:

* Findings far the total amount of losses are required under Chapters 1094, 110, 1104, and 113A of Tille 18 for offenses committed on or after
September 13, 1994 but befare April 23, 1996. .
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DEFENDANT. DONALD M. POWERS, JR :

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS.

Having assessed the defendant's ability to pay, payment of the total criminal monetary penalties are due as follows:

A T[] Lurhp sum payment of § due immediately, balance due

[] not later than or
[]inaccordance with [} C, [} D, [1E, or {]F below,or

B [?] Payment fo begin immediately {(may be combined with [] C [] D,or [v] F below); or
C [] Paymentinequal installments of § over a period of , to commence days after the date of this judgment; or

D [] Paymentinequal instanmehts of $ over a period of , to commence days after release from imprisonment to a
term of supervision; or =

E [] Payment during the term of supervised release will commence within {e.g., 30 or 60 days) after release from
imprisonment. The Court will set the payment plan based on an assessment of the defendant's abillty o pay at .
that time; or

F [v] Speclalinstructions regarding the payment of criminal monetary penalties:

[v] i the defendant, while incarcerated, is working in a non-UNICOR or grade 5 UNICOR job, the defendant shall
pay $25.00 per quarter toward defendant's restitution obligation. If working in a grade 1-4 UNICOR job,
defendant shall pay 50% of defendant's monthly pay toward defendant's restitution obligation. Any change in this
schedule shall be-made only by order of this Court.

[v] After the defendant is release from imprisonment, and wi_thin 30 days of the commencement of the term of
supervised release, the probation officer shall recommend a revised payment schedule to the Court to satisfy
any unpaid balance. of the restitution. The Court will enter an order establishing a schedule of payments.

Unless the court has expressly ordered otherwise, if this judgment imposes imprisonment, payment of criminal monstary

penalties is due during imprisonment. All criminal penalties, except those payments made through the Federal Bureau of
Prisons' inmate Financial Responsibility Program, are made to the Clerk of the Court.

The defendant shall receive credit for all payments previously made toward any criminal monetary penalties imposed.

[v*] Joint and Several (Defendan{ name, Case Number, Total Amount, Joint and Several Amount and corresponding
payee): .

to be determined at the hearing on January 20, 2005
[]1 The defendant shall pay the cost of prosecution,
{1 The defendant shalt pay the following court cost(s):

[1 The defendant shall forfeit the defendant's interest in the following property to the United States:

Payments shall be applied in the'following order, (1) assassment; (2} restitution principal; (3) restitution interest; (4) fine
principal; (5} community resfitution; (6) fine interest; {7) penalties; and (8) costs, including cost of prosecution and court
costs. :




BEFORE THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
| : ON -
GRIEVANCES AND DISCIPLINE
' OF
THE SUPREME COURT OF OHIO

In Re:
Complaint against : Case No. 06-012
Donald M. Powers, Jr. ot Findings of Fact,
Attorney Reg. No. 0067728 - Conclusions of Law and
' ‘ P Recommendation of the
Respondent Board of Commissioners on
. Grievances and Discipline of
Cincinnati Bar Association the Supreme Court of Ohio

Relator

This matter was heard on February 26, 2007 and on November 14, 2007, before a
panel consisting of Jean M, McQuiIlaq of Cléveland, Ohio, Francis E. Sweeney, Ir. of
Cleveland, Ohio and Jana E. Emerick, Chair, of Lima, Ohio. None of the panel members
resides in the judicial district ffom which the complaint arose of served as a member of
the probable cause panel that certified this matter to the Board.

Relator was represented by attorneyé Franklin A. Klaine, .Tr._'and E. Hanlin
.Bavely. ‘Respondent was represented by att’oméy Edward G. Marks. Respondent was not
'uprescnt at the February 26, 2007 hearing, as he was incarcerated at that time in federal
prison. Due to respondent’s incarcerated status and a complete lack of cooperation from
federal prison authorities, efforts to obtéin respondént’s deposition were unsuccessful.
This resulted in a continuation of the hearing until November 14, 2007, at which time

respondent had been granted early release from prison and was able to attend the hearing.



The complaint in this matter was filed on February 13, 2006. The complaint
alleged that respondent had violated the disciplinary rules as a result of actions he
engaged in while the owner of a title agency located in the Cincinnati area. The
complaint alleged that, as a result, respondent had been connicted in federal court upon a
plea of guilty to a charge of making a material false statement in a loan application, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. 1014, and to a charge of filing a false income tax return, in
violation of 26 U.S.C. 7206(1).

The complaint alleged that respondent’s conduct amounted to a violation of DR 1-
102(A)(3) [engaging 1n illegal conduct involving moral turpitude], DR 1-102(A)(4')
[engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation], and DR
1-102(A)(6) [engaging in conduct adveréely reflecting on a lawyer’s fitness to practice
law] .

To establish its case, the relator nresented a set of stipulated facts and joint
exhibits, a copy- of which are attached to this report. Relator presented no other evidence.

‘The respondent testified and presented the testimony of two other witnesses.

FINDINGS OF FACT

Based upon the stipulations of the parties and the evidence presented at the - '
hearing, _the panel finds the following facts to have been proven byrclear and convincingﬂ
evidence: |

Respondent was admitted to the practice of law in Ohio in 1997. From 2000
through 2003, respondent and his wife owned and nperated Premier Land Title Agency in
Glendale, tho. During this time period, employees of that agency and business

associates of respondent’s engaged in an illegal scheme of “flipping” low value homes in



the greater Cincinnati area. This “flipping” scheme involved buying a piece of real estate
for low value, obtaining a falsely inflated appraisal Qf the propertf,g and submitting a
fraudulent loan ﬁackage to a bank or lender in order to sell the property to a buyer who
would obtain a highly inflated loan. As the owner of the title agency involved, respondent
signed docufn_ents that served fo perpetuate this scheme, although the documents had

been prepared by pthers in respondent’s employ.

Respondent, alo.ng with other persons, did partner in the ﬁurchase of two
residential properties in Cincinnat_i. Those homes were purchased for fairly low cost and
~ sold within just a few months at a rather large profit. Respondcnt failed to acéufately
report the income obtained from these sales to the Internal Revenue Service.

'i‘hese actions came under investigation by state and federal law enforcement
agencies, although the investigation initially focused on persons other than respondent.
From the time respondent was made aware that such an investigation had begun,
respondent cooperated with law enforcement in the investigation. As the investigation
continued, respondent himself became a focus of the same investigation.

In the case sub judice, respondent testiﬁéd, and the panel believed and therefore
finds as factual, that respondent’s involvement in the day to day affairs of the title agency
was very limifed. Respondent employed numerous persons, including hig then wife, who
héndled the actual paperwork and loan transactions involved in the flipping scheme.
Respondent relied, ultimately to his detriment, on those persons to do a thorough and
honest job in the work handled by the ‘title agency. Because respondent was the owner
and overseer orf all others working at the agency, respondent accepted — and still accepts —

full responsibility for their misconduct in the course of their employment.



Due to this fact, and also due to the fact that mounting a trial defense in a
cbmplicated conspiracy case in federal court was completely cost prohibitive and
therefore an option unavailable to respondent, respondent ultimately opted to take
advantage of a négotiated plea deal offered by the federal prosecutors and agreed to plead
guilty to two substantially les.ser charges than those involved in the original case.

Therefore, on February 1, 2005, respondent pled guilty in United States District
Court, Southern District of Ohio, Western Division, to making a materiall false statement
' iﬁ a loan aﬁplication, in violation of 18 U.,8.C. 1014, and to a charge of filing a false

income tax return, in violation of 26 U.S.C. 7206(1). |
On October 31, 2005, respondent was sentenced to a term of 38 months in prison
-for the first count, and to 36 months -in pr_ison' for the second count, to be served
concurrently, The Supréme Court of Ohio suspended Respondent from the practice of
law oh an interim basis as a résult of the felony conviction on January 27, 2006.
Respondent was paroled from prison on August 7, 2007 and, at the time of the
disciplinary hearing, was living in a halfway house in the Cincinnati area, where he had

obtained employment in a computer repair shop.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
Baéed upon the stipulations of the parties and the evidence pfesented at the
hearing, the panel unaniﬁlously finds by clear and convincing 'evideﬁce that the conduct
of respondent violated DR 1-102(A)(3) [engaging in illegal conduct involving moral
turpitude], DR 1-102(A)(4) [engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or
misreprcsentation], and DR 1-102(A)(6) [engaging in conduct adversely reflecting on a

lawvyer’s fitness to practice law].



- PANEL RECOMMENDATION

It is the position of the relator that the respondent should be disbarred.
Respondent urges that a sanction of indefinite suspension be imposed, so that respondent
may perhaps someday regain the privilege of practicing law.

The panel acknowledges that the disciplinary rules violated by respondent involve
misconduct of the most serious nature, particularly the violations of DR 1-102(Aj(3) and
DR 1-102(A)(4). At first glance, upon corisidering respondent’s criminal conviction and
the general facts surrounding it, disbarment seems the only appropriate sanction.
However, upon careful exall‘iination of the facts in evidence as to the particular
misconduct of the respondent, contrasted with that of all persons engaged in the criminal
acts at issue, and upon consideration of the credibility of resiaondent’s testimony, the
panel concludes that respondent should be indefinitely suspendéd.

| In preparation of this report, countless decisions of the Supreme Court of Ohio
involving criminal conduct and/or frau'dulelit or dishonest behavior on the part of
:ittorneys were considered. ‘That caselaw contains, of course, numerous decisions where
disbarment was ordered as a result of DR i—l-OZ(A)(3) and DR 1-102(A)(4) violations,
However, that same body of caselaw also contains numerous decisions where sanctions
short bf disbarment were ordered. The research results aré so mixed that, unfortunately,
citation to relevant cases be'comies essentially useless when attempting to support a
recommendation in any particular set of facts, such as ihis case. |

'Accordingly, the panel will simply note that it found respondent’s testimony

extremely compelling and credible. Given the lack of specific evidence otherwise, the



panel finds that respondent had a limited involvement in the qriminal and fraudulent
conduct involved in the federal case, notwithstanding the general acknowledgements
made on the record in federal court in order that respondent’s negotiated plea would be
accepted. Respondent expressed a great deal of remorse and took complete responsiBility
for his actions, as well as those of his employees and businéss associates, Respondent
has no prior disciplinary action and has clearly already been subject to serious sanctions
for the same misconduct involved in this case, through having b'eez-l éenten_ced to federal |
prison.

For all of these feasons, it is the recommendation of the hearing panel that
rc_aspondent be indefinitely suspendcd from the practice of law in Ohio.

BOARD RECOMMENDATION

Pursuant to Gov. Bar Rule V(6)(L), the Board of Commissioners on Grievances
and Discipline of the Supreme Court of Ohio considered this matter on February 8, 2008.
The Board adopted the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Recommendation of
the Panel and recommends that the Respondent, Donald m, Powers, Jr., be indefinitely
suspendéd on from the practice of law iﬁ the State of Ohio with no credit for time served.
The Board further recommends that the cost of these proceedings be t;atxed to the
Respondent in any disciplinary order entered, so thaf execution may issué. |

Pufsuant to the order of the Board of Cofnmissiuners on

Grievances and Discipline of The Supreme Court of Ohio,
I hereby certify the foregoing Findings of Fact, Conclusions

Board of Commissioners on
Grievances and Discipline of
The Supreme Court of Ohio



BEFORE THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
ON GRIEVANCES AND DISCIPLINE OF

THE SUPREME COURT OF OHIO -
Inre:
DONALD M. POWERS IR. (0067728) :* CaseNo, 06-012
Respondent
CINCINNATI BAR ASSOCIATION . STIPULATION

Relator

Now come the parties through their respective counsel and stipulate the following facts
and docmﬁ;:nts. | |
FACTS
1. Respondent, Donald M Pdwers, Jr. is an attorney dulj' admitted. to the practice of
law in the State of Ohio in 1997.
2, Respondent currently is not registered as an attorney with the Supreme Court of
Ohio, |
3. Reépondent and his wife operated Premier Land Title Agency in Glendale, Chio.
from September 2000 to July 2003. | |
4. Durihg this period, Re_spondent was a'participant (along with several others) in a
s‘chem'e involving “ﬂipping" lov;r value homes in the greater Cincinnati, Ohio area.
5. The "flipping" scheme involved buying a pi_éce of real estate for a low value,
recruiting a buyer for the property who may: not otherwise be able to afford property, and

creating.false documents, including pay stubs,W-2 forms, bank statements_ and employment



verification for the poter_itial buyér. Next, a falsely inflated appraisal of ltl_le property would be
obtained, and a false loan package would be submitted to the bank or lender in order to obtain a
highly inflated loan. |

| 6. Premier Land Title Agency, of which Respondent was an owner, participated in
the closing of 310 loans involved in this scheme. Respondent was aware of some of the fictitious
and/or fraudulent appraisals that were submitted to financial institutions in furtherance of this
.s'cheme.‘

7. Additionally, Respondent and/or Premier Land Title Agency took part in acts.
which defrauded various federally insured financial institutions in ’r.he execution of the "flipping"
scheme by knowingly submitting false Housing and Urban Development (HU]j) forms to the
financial Vinstitutio.ns in support of a loan application, In . signing numerous" HUD forms,
Respo'ndent falsely certified that the buyer had brought é down paynient to the closing, which he -
knew not to be true.r | |

8. Respondent further participatéd by acting as both the title agent and the seller in
c‘onnection with five propérties involved in the "ﬂipping'-‘ scheme, Réspondent purchased one
such property located at 1794 Carll Street in Cincinnati for $37,000 and sold it three meﬁths later
for $78,000. Also, in furtherance of the conspiracy, Respondent purchased property locatec-l‘at
228'3- Loth in Cincinnati for $6,000 and sold. it six months later for $110,000. .In both of these
transactions, Respondent signed HUD statements certifying that the buyers l;roughtrover $11,000
to.each of the closings as down payments, but in fact, the buyers did not provide any fﬁnds as
down payments. |

-9 Respondent has admitted that due to his ‘a'nd Premier’s fraudulent activity,

various financial and lending institutions have suffered an actual or intended loss of



$3,492,217.59,

10.  Respondent additionally willfully filed false individual income tax returns with
the Intel.;nal R&enué Service for the years 2001 and _2002. He failed to report portions of the
payments received from the fraudulent loan proceeds and from others involved in the "ﬂipiaing“
scheme.

11.  On February 1, 2005, Respondent pled guilty in United States District Court,
" Southern District of Ohio, Western Division, to- makmg 2 matenal false statement in a loan
application in violation of 18 US.C. § 1014, and to filing a false income tax ;'eturn, in violation
of 26 U.S.C. § 7206(1). |

12. On Oﬁtober 31, 2005, Respondent was sentenc_:ed to imprisonrhent for 28 months
on the first count and 36 months on the second count, to bé served concurrently, and he is
currently imprisoned.

13. The filing of this Stipulation _willl not préclude either paﬁy from presenﬁng
witnesses or legal arguments at the hearing of this matter,

In addition to the above stipulated facts, the parties hereto stipulaté to the authenticity of
the following documents which were filed as copies. to this Stipulation as exhibits thereto.

A. In the United States District Court, Southern District of Ohio, Western Divisién,
Criminal Case No. CR 1-05-011-001 being Um’téd States of America v. Donald Powers Pleﬁ
Agreement Exhibit A. | -

B. In the United States District Courf, Southern District of Ohio, Western Division,
United States of America v. Donald M. Powers, Jr., Docket No. CR_I -05-011-001, Presentence
Investigation Report dated June 28, 2005 Exhibit B. | |

C. In the United States District Court, Southern District of Ohio, Western vaision,



-

United States of America v. Donald M. Powers, Jr., Case No. CR 1-05-011-001, Judgmentina .

Criminal Case Exhibit C.

Respectfully submitted,

Frankhn A. Klaine, Jr. - Y -
Attorney Bar Number: 0019300

-On behalf of Relator, Cincinnati Bar
Association

The Federal Reserve Building -

150 East Fourth Street .

Cincinnati, OH 45202

Telephone: (513) 621-2120

Facsimile: (513) 241-8259
faklaine(@strausstroy.com

M
ttorney Baj;;um ef: 0001251
Attorney for Respon nt, Donald M.
Powers, Jr.
30 Garfield Place, Suite 515
Cincinnati, OH 45202
Telephone: (513) 421-4400
Facsimile: (513) 721-7008
emarks@hlimlaw.com

1026620_1.DOC
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I certify that this is a
true and correct copy of the

original filed_ in_ my Office |
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT on e 3\0 o 5

SOUTHERN BISTRICT OF GHIO-

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA : CRIMINAL NO. | BY Deputy Ter]
: DATE: '} S - QDD'”\
. RIS .
¥, : i.R 0(’ U I 1 Co
'+ PLEA AGREEMENT A!R%EMEN(';" ' : '
' " DONALD POWERS : HONORABLE SUSAN J. DLOTT:. ~

_'—3--.' .--...,

z o _

The Umtcd States Attorney for the Southern sttnct of Ohlo and the deft;ﬁd@t ﬁfmald

 Poviers, also called “the pasties” heren, agree that:

1. Donald Powers will waive Indictment by the Federal Grand Jury and will enter apleaof
guilty ﬁefore the United States District Tudge to a two-Count Informat_ioh charging him with Making
a Materi_a.lAFalse_ 'Statement inaLoan Appliqét_ion, in violation of 18 U.8.C. § 1014 and Fﬂfﬁg a False

| Inco_mﬁ Tax Return, in violation of 26 U.S8.C. § 7206(1). Ma.kmg a Material F als;z Statement carries

a maximﬁm penalty of ﬁp to thirty (30) years imprigonmcnt, a fine of up to $1,000,000.00, a five (5)

year term of supervised release, restitution, and a $1b0.00 special assessment, Filinga False Income

- Tax Rémrn carries a maximum peﬁalty of up to five (5) years imprisonfqent, a $250,000 fine, th.e
costs of prosecution, restitution, and a niandatory. $ 100 speéial assessment,

2. The defendant understands that this Agroement permitting s guilty plea fo the above-listed

: coﬁnts requires that the defendaﬁt abide by each term of this Agreement. The defendant understands

that if the defendant makes any statement that is materially false in whole or in part or otherwise fails

to comply with any ferm of this Agreement, the United States has the right to declare this Agreement
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void and to prosecute the tiefendent to the full extent of the law. If this Plea Agreement or the
defendant’s conviction upon his guilty plee is void_ed for any reason, the defendant waives any statute
of limjtations with respect to the United States prosecuting him for aﬁy offense arisiltg from his
. conductin thiscase. | | |

3. The defendant will give complete cooperaﬁon to law eﬁfomesrﬁent authorities and others

rega:diﬁg his activities and those of others in relation to the offense ef conviction and other matters

- . -on thc fcllowmg terms and condmons

(a) Mr Powers shall cooperate fully, truthfully, completely and forthnghtly w1th the

: United--States Attorney s Office for the Southern District of Ohio and other Federal, state and locel

law enforcement authontlcs 1dent1ﬁed by this Office in any and all matters as to whlch the

| ;Govemment deems the cooperatton relevant Mr. Powers acknowledges that his cooperation may
tnclu‘de, but will not necessanly be limited to: answering questlous; providing swom written

statements; takmg govemment administered polygraph examination(s); and parhclpatmg in covert

o law enforcement activities. Any refusai by M, Powers to cooperate fuily, truthﬂﬂly, completely and

forthnghtly as directed by this Ofﬁee and other Federal, state and Yocal law enforcement authontles
1dent1ﬁed by this Office in any and all matters in whtch the Government deems his assistance
relevant will constitute a breach of this agreement by Mr, Powers, and will relieve the Govemment
of its obligations under this agreement or any other agreement (such as an agreement under Section
SK1.1 of the Umted States Sentencmg Guzdelmes) between the partles whether entercd before of
after thls agreement Mr Powers agrees. however, that such breach by him will not consntute a
basw for w1thdrawal of his plea of guilty or otherw:se reheVe him of his obhgatlons under this

agreement
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(b) Mr. Powers shall promptly tum over t6 the Government or other law
enforcement authorities or direct ;suéh la\;v enforcement authorities to any and all e?idmce of crime;
all contraban& and proceeds of crime; and all assets traceable to such proceeds of crime. M.
i’o;vvem agrees to the forfeiture of all assets ‘which._ are prc:;cccdé of crime or traceable to such
proéeeds'of crime and all mstruments that he used to aid him in co:mn_itting. the crimes,

(¢} Mr. Powers éha_ll submit a full and comp_letc ﬁcqounﬁng of all of his financial
assets, whet_lier such assets are iﬁ his name or in the name of a third party. | |

- (d) Mr. Powers éhal] testify folly, oompletelyahd truthfully before any and all Grand
Juxy_(ies) inA the' Soﬁthcm District of Ohio, and elsewhere‘, and at any and a!!_ trials of cases or ‘other
oourt pfoceédings in the Soutilem District of Ohio and elsewhere, at which Eis testimony mﬁy be
_dee’_r.n‘ed relevant i)y the Government.
| {e) Mr. Péwers ' undcrstands.énc.l acknowledges that nothing in this agreement allows
him .to commit any criminal violation of local, state or Federal law ci_uring the period of his
pédpei-at_ion Wlth 1aﬁ enforcement authorities or at_any.time priof to the se.nteﬁcing m this case. The
qéﬁnﬁissiono'f a criminal offense during the period of Mr. Powers’ cooperation or at any time prior
to sentelr}il;ing will coﬁstitutc & breach of this plea agreement and will mii&e &1& Government of all of
'ifs obligrati:;)né u_r__m&er this agreement or ﬁnder ény oﬂier agreement between the pafties (inclq’ding any
i:dtenﬁal'Séction SKI._I of the Sentencing Guideﬁnes and/or 18 U.S,C. § 3553(e) agreemént). Mr;
Pofvérs acimq‘wledgcs, however, and agrees that su.ch a breach of this agfeemént wili not entitle him
to withdraw his plea of guilty or relieve him of his bbligaﬁmlé under this 'agreexherit. Mr. Powers.
'ﬂn-ther understands that, to establish a breach of this agreement, the Government need only prove hi;

commission of a criminal offense by a preponderance of the evidence.
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(f) Finally, Mr. Powers’ cooperanon also mcludcs making restitution in this matter
in a schedule and amount to be determined by the Court

| 4, While no substantlal assxsta_nce motion has been promissd by the United States, the parties
.have dissussed that Mr, Powers could qualify for such a motion if he provides the United States.
| - with substantlal assistance. Mr Powers agrees to and understands the following: that only the
: 'Umted States Attomey, in its sole discretion, may apply for a downward departure from the

| _qudeline_sentcnce pursuant to Sentencing Guideline § 5K1.1 and that only the United States

| _ Attorney xﬁay, within one year of scnts/ncing and at the sole discretion of the United States Attorney,
ﬁls & motion for redﬁcﬁo:i of sentence pursuant to Rule 35(b) of the Federal Rules of Cﬁmiﬁal
Procedure, to refloct substantial assistancé to the United States subsequent to -sen'tencing. The |

'defcndém.t undcrstan&s that the sleterminatios of whethér he has provided substantial assistance

'pursuant to Section 5K1.1 of the Sentencing Guidelines, Rule 35(b), or 18 U.S.C. § 3553(e), is

. w:thm the sole discretion of the United States Attorney’s Ofﬁce for the Southern District of Ohto

| and is not reviewsble by the Court. The defendant agrees thal in the event the United States files

' such a motlon, he wﬂl not contest the' recommendanon of the government as to the sentencing level

e ’ ancl wﬂI not seek to g0 below the sentsncmg level recommended by the governmcnt The defendant -

further understands that 1f the Government does not file a motion for downward departure the Court
“hasmno authonty to grant a downward departure, under Section 5K1. 1 ofthe Sentencing Gquelmes,
. Ruie 35(b) or 18 US.C. § 3553(e} In any event the defendant agrccs not to scek a downward
departure, wxmout Govemmt motion, based on any assistance proylded in me_mvesu gatlon(s) or
_ prosecﬁtion(s) of another person(s) who has committed a Fee_iera_l, state, local or any other offense.

Tise defendant agrees and acknowledges that if this Office chooses not to filea substantial assistance
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R departure motion it shall not be grounds for the defendant to move to withdraw his ples of gllllty in

' thxs case or othcrw1se rchcve hxm of his obhgatlons undcr this agl‘eement

5 In exchange for the defendant’s plea of guilty and complete cooperation, the United States
Attorney for the S.outhcrn District of Ohio agrees that, after sentence has been imposed on the
 information, he will not file any additional charges against the defendant bésed on the defendant’s |
| conduct as described iﬁ thé. Information and Statement of Facts. This Agreement does not protect the

. dchndént from prosecution for perjury, false statement, obsmction, or any other such charge for

i s ctmduct after the date of this Agreement,

. 6, No: pronnses have been made to the defendant that he will receive probanon or that he will

¥ rccewe a hghter sentence on account of his plea of guilty.

_ 7 The defendant understands and agrees that the sentence will be imposed in conformity
' mth the FederaI Sentencing Guidelines and Policy Statements (hcremaﬁer “Sentencing Guidelines™),

and that thc apphcable guidelines will be determined by the Court relying in part on the results ofa
Pre-Sentence Investlgatlon by the Court’s probatlon office, whch mvesngatmn will commence aﬁer

the guilty plea has been entered. The defendant is also aware that under certain‘ circumstances, the
Court may depart from the apphcable gmdehne range and impose a sentence that is either more
schrc or less severe than the guideline range. Defendant waives any constxtutmnal challenge tothe
Sentencmg Guidelines, waives indictment and trial byjuryon nall findings relevant to sentencing, and
agrees that the Court may make all such findings by a preponderance of the evidence based on any
reliable evidence, iricluding bearsay. Defendant understands and acknowledges that the Court has
the-authority fo impose any sentence up to the statutory maximum authorized by law and that the

defendant may not withdraw the plea. solely as a result of the sentence imposed. Defendant
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' ackhoW]edges that he has discussed this waiver and its consequences fully with I;is attomey and that
he uxt_derstands'the nature and eonsequenees_of the waiver, |
| . 8. The parties hereby state, pursuant to Sentehcix;g Guideline § 6B1 .2(a), that the charge to
whtch the defendant is pleading guilty adet]uately reflects the seriousness of the readily provable
aetual_ offense behavior and that the aceepbatlce of the Agt‘cement by the Court will not undeﬁnine_ :
the statutory purposes of sentencing. _ |
9. The 'defendant understands that the matter of sentence is reserted solely to the District
Court and that the Court could i nnpose the maximum penalty, No promises or representahons have
been made to the defendant as to what sentenee the Court will impose.
n lO The defendant agrees to pay the 5100 00 special assessment to the Clerk of the Umted
.' States District Court for eaeh count to which he pleads gullty no later than the date of his sentencing.
t 1. By signing this document, the defendant acknowledgos tho truth of the att:mhed
Statetnent of Facts, |
12. The United States agrees that it will recommend that the defendant be provided credit for
acceptance of reseonsibilitj pursdant to Section 3E1.1 of the Seﬁtencing Guidelines, based uptm the
defendant’s recognition and affirmative and timely acceptadce of pemqnal responsibility. The
_ United States, however, will not be required to ntake these sentenctrxg reconnnendations ifany of the
followmg oecurs (1) defendant fails or refuses to make a full, accurate and complete dlsclosure to
this office or the probation office of the cxrcumstanees eurroundmg the relevant offense conduct and
his present ﬁnanclal condition; (2) defendant is found to have mxsrepresented facts to the
government prior to entering his plea agreement; (3) defendant commits any misconduct after

entering into this plea agreement, including, but not limited to, committing a state or Federal offense
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violating any term of releése or making a false statcl.nent or misteprdsentaiion to any government
entlty or official; or (4) defendant fails to comply with any of the terms of this plea agrecment Ithe
. defendant continues to accept respons:b:hty through the time of sentenc:ng and continues to comply
with all the terms of this agrcement mcludmg the aforemenuoned provisions of this paragraph, the
'Umted States will filea motion pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3E1.1(b) statmg to the sttnct Court that the

' defendant has tlmcly notified authontles of his intention to plead glulty

13, The United States and the defendant stipulate and recommend that the Court adopt the
following calcuiatmn un‘_der_ the Sentencing Gmdehnas: '

Bauk Fraud

The apphcable Guideline is § 2B1.1 (Gmdelmes effective Novamber 1,2002). The

base offense level under § 2B1.1 is six; plus eighteen levels because the intended loss

was over $2,500,000 (§2B1.1{b)(1)(J)); plus two levels because there were more than -
* 10, but less than 50 victims (§2B1.1(b)(2)(A)), causing a final level of 26, '

~ Tax Evasion

The applicable Guideline s § 2T1.1 (Guidelines effective Novesmber 1,2002). The
- base offense level for more than $30,000 Tax Loss is 14 (2T4.1); causing a final
level of 14,

Combined Offense Level

" .To determine the combined offense level, the parties have applied § 3D1.4 of the
Guidelines. Under § 3D1.4, the Bank Fraud (level 26) counts as one-unit group
because it has the highest offense level. The tax evasion (level 14) is disregarded

.~ because it is more than nine levels “less serious than the Group with the highest

- ‘offense level, ' Thus, there is one-unit, which means there is no increase in oﬁ'ense
level under § 3D1.4 causing a final offense level of 26.

The parties stipulate and recommend that no other upward or downward adjustments or departures

apply. There is no stipulation or recornmendation about the defendant’s cnmmal history. The

defendant fully understands that, after investigation and review, the Court may determine that the
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' offense factors and reconnnmdatiens Iisted anywhere in this plea agreement are not approt}ﬁate and -
' ie not ebligated to accept such, In that event, the defendant fully understantis that he shall not have |
the n ght to withdtaw his guiity plea. | | | |
14. In the ovent that the defendant does not plead: guilty, the defendant agrees and
understands’ that he tnereby weives any protection afforded by Sectien 1B l.S(a) of the _Asenteneing
) Gmdehnes and Rule 11(f) of the Federal Rules of Cnmmal Procedure and that any statements made _

' by him as part of the plea dlscussmns or as part of his cooperation with the gow:nunent will be

S adnuss:ble agamst him without any limitation in any civil or cnmmal proceeding.

- 15. The defendant is aware that Title 18, United States Code, Section 3742, affords the
: de:fendant the nght to appeal the sentence imposed in this case. Acknowledging tlns, in exchange for
the-'nndmtaldngs mede by the United States m this plea agreement, the defendant hereby waives all
.’ righte conferred by T1tlc 18, United States Code, Section 3742, to appeal any sentence imposed, or to
appeal the manner. in which the sentence was imposed, unless the sentence exceeds the maximum
_pexmxtted by statute This appeal waiver mcludes a waiver of the nght to appeal the sentence on the
ground that the sentencxng guidelines are in any respect unconstltut:onal, or on the grounds that any

: ‘fact found by the Court at sentencing was not alleged in the indictment, edmitted by the Defendant,
‘ found by a Jury, or found beyond areasonable doubt. The defendant ﬁuther understands that nothing .'
= in thls agl\eement shall affect the government’s right and/or duty to appeal as set forth in18U.S.C.§
.374."2(b). However, if the United States appeals the defendant § sentence putsuant to Section

" 3'742.(1:), the defendant shall be released from the above waiver of appellate rights. The defendant

| understands that, although the defendant will be sentenced in conformity with the Sentencing
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_Guidelines, by this agreement the defendant waives the right to appeal the sentence pﬁ the basis that

' i_hé sentence is the result of an incorrect application of the Sentencing Guidelines.

-16. This Agi'eement does not resolve any civil liability of the defendant for tax, interest, and

penalties relating to income from the offense of conviction or any other source. The defendant

acknowledges that as part of the @mplete cooperation pror_niscd by him in this Agreement, he is

‘obligated to givé complcte cooperation to Federal, state, and local tax authorities in the

determination of his taxable income and detennmauon and payment of any applicable tax, mterest

and penaltles. The defendant agrees as part of hls complete cooperatmn to ﬁle accurate tax returns
.for himself, amendmg réturns if necessary, by April 30, 2005. A_ddmcna]ly, the defendani agrees, as

e part of his complete cooﬁeration, that he will cooperate fully with the Intenal Revenue Service as

a. Defendant agrees to pay restimtib;x of the tax due and ovﬁng, togetilelj witﬁ any interest
and penalties finally determinéd to the Depaxtment of Treasﬁrjr, hﬁemal Revenue Servi'c;c.
The defendant agrees to pay all Federal, state and local taxes due and owmg for tax years
2000 2001, and 2002. The defcndant agrees, 25 a term of his supemscd release, to make
all reasonablg efforts to pay the tax liability due and owing to the Internal Revpn_ue
Service as a result' of the offenses to which he is pieading -gui]ty, including aﬁy 'relevant
conduct amounts, Such payments will be completed within the penod of his superv:sed
release. In the event the defendant is unable to completely pay the tax hablllty prior to
termination of the supervised relcase period, he agrees to make regular monthly payments

toward such liability in an amount to be determined by the Court at sentencing. Such

. amount will be set in accordance with the defendant‘s financial ability, -
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b. Défendant_ agrees to provide the IRS Examination Divisjon, prior to sentencing, wifh all
requésted documents and information fbr the purpose of a civil audit. |
" ~¢. Defendant agrees that subparagraphs a and;t: are appropriate conditions of supervised
| release. ..
d. ﬁefehdépt_ agrees tha.t he will make no obj ection to the entry of an order under
Fed.R.Crim.P. 6(¢)(3) permitting the lRS Criminal']nvesiigatiqn'Division to disciose to the
iRS Examinatfon’ 'Colle;:tion Divisions (for pu@os& of a civil audit) all of tﬁe documents
obtainéd;' and the IRS réports;‘n"oclluccd, duﬁ'ng the criminal investigatioﬁ, ﬁhether or not
such documents o reports are considered to be grand jury material w:thm the meaning of
Rule 6(c)(3). |
e. Nothing in this agreement shall limit the Internal Revenme Service in its collection of a:my

taxes, penalties or interest due from the defendant.

10
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'17. This written Agreement embodies all o_fthe agreements and undérstandiiigs between the

United States Attorney for the Southern District of Ohio and the defendant. No conirersaﬁons,

discussions, understandix_lgs, or othér documents extraneous to the Agrccmenf shall be considered

part of this Agrecement.

GREGORY G. LOCKHART
United States Attorney =

/’——.—

AMULR. THAPAR (DC459489) -
Assistant United States Attorney
221 East Fourth Street, Suite 400
Cincinnati, Ohio 45202

 (513) 684-3711

Pl

"DONALD POWERS
Defendant

-JACK S ENSTEIN _
" Attorngy for the Defendant
7 West Seventh Street
Suite 1850
Cincinnati, Ohio 45202
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DATE
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STATEMENT OF FACTS

UNITED STATES v. DONALD POWERS

~ Betweenonor about Jzinuary 1, ZQOO, and on or aboot July 22, 2003, Donald Powers aided
| oﬁnero_in a scheme to oefralrd various federally insore_d financial institotions by, among other things,
knowingly éubrnittiog fzlse Housing and Urban Development forms to rlrose financial institutions in
support of a loan application. The scheme involves the “flipping” of low-value homes located in the )
' greater Cincinnati, Ohio, area. - | | |
A brief summary of the scheme is as follows: (1) a petson would purchase a piece of real
' 1_ estate at alow value, gg= $20, 000' (2) he/she, or someone else mvolved inthe scheme, would then

- _recrmt a buyer for that property, usually someone that could not afford to otherw1se purchase real

" :'es!ate, or an mdlvxdual interested in propertles as an investor; (3) afier ﬁndmg the buyer, one of the

| _' oo-oonsp1rators would create false documents including pay stubs W-2 fonns, bank statements, and
- employment venﬁcatlons, {4) the co-conspxrators would then obtam a falsely inflated appralsal for
| ~ the subJect property; and (5) the co-conspirators would then subm1t the false loan_ package to the
bank or lender for that same property in order to obtam 2 hlgh]y inflated loan, e.g. $85 000 (for the
property | that was usually sold only months before for $20,000).

Mr. Powers furthered this seheme by serving as the owner of a Title Company that closed
many of these loans, Mr. Powers also served as the seller of several “flipped” properties. Mr.
Powers purchased properties at market value, or allowed the properties to be purchased and placed in
his name, and then sold them at artificially inflated values. During these tranisactions, he was aware
that fictitious and/or fraudulent appraisals were submitted to the financial institutions in furtherance

of this scheme. In addition, during several of the closings, Mr. Powers signed various forms

12
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: containing i.‘als.einfor'mation including a Department of Housing and Urban Dovelttpmeot Form
lcnown as a HUD-1 Settlement Statement. That form usually mdrcated that the buyer brought the
down payment to cloging. Mr. Powers knew that the buyer dld not bring the down payment, but
* rather someone else involved in the scheme brought the down payment. Moreover, Mr. Powers was
;véa:e that the buyer often received a “kic_kback” outside of the closing,_whirch was not disclosetl to
the l_en&er{ “Thus, M. Powers aided othiers in a scheme to defrand financial i_nstitotion,s. :
| In fur'thermce of this conspiracy, on or about september 5, 2001,.Donald Powers pur_choeed |
the lproperty located at 1794 Carll Street in Cincinnati, Ohio, for $37,000. On Deeember_ 11, 2001,
Mr. Powers eold the property to Patrick Goedde for $f8,000. According to the HUD-1 _Settlement
' Stotement, Mr.'Goeddc brooght a down payment of $11,659.67 to the closing. In reality, Mr,
‘Goedde did not .provide the ﬁmds used to make the down paytrterlt on this property. M. Powers
si gned the HUD-l as the seller of the property knowmg the document was false. The loan packages
were subrmtted to First Union Mortgage Corporatron whlch at the time was a dms:on of First Union
| Ban_k; whose depos_its wete msured by the Federal Deposit Insuranco Corporation (First Union Bank
haé. since'merged with Wachovia Corporation, whose deposits are also federally insured). Mr.
Powers’ actions were lcommitted in furtherance of a scheme to defraud First Union, |
Aloo in furtherance of this con;spiracy, on or about Novernber 6, 2001, Donald Powers
‘ purchased the property located at 2283 Loth in Cincinnati, Ohio for $6, 000 OnMay 17,2002, Mr. -
Powers sold the property to William Graham for $110, 000 Accordmg to the HUD-1 Settlement |
Statemer_lt, Mr, Graham brought_ a down, payment of $1 1,808.46 to the closing, In reality, Mr
Graham did not provirle tlre funds used to make the down payment on this property. Mx PoWers

signed the HUD-1 as the seller of the property knowing the document was false. The loan package

13
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* was submitted to ABN Amro whose deposits were then insux_‘éd by the _Fedéral Deposit Insurance

- Ct;rporaﬁon. Mr. Powers’ actions were committed in furtherance ofa scheme to defraud ABN Amro.

| The United Staxcs and Mr. Pdwers agree that, as a result of his fraud, he caused an actual

and/or mtended loss to various financial and lendmg institutions of $3, 492 ,217.59,

In addltlon Mz, Powers wﬂlfully filed false mdmdual income tax returns with the Intemal

Revenue Service for the years 2001 and 2002. During these years, Mr, Powers received payoffs from

-the fraudulent loan proceeds and from others involved in the scheme. Mr. Powers failed to provide

" hisreturn bfep’arer with complete and accurate information regarding all of the payments he received.

As aresult, Mr. Powers failed to report a substantial amount of income on his individual tax returns,

thereby cauéing his taxablé income to be understated by $38,657 in 2001 and $53,094 in 2002.

Thus, Mr. vaem willfully understated his tax Iiabilityr in the aggregate amount of $34,217 for the
years 2001 and 2002.

JAll of the aforementioned conduct occurred in the Southem District of Ohio.

I have reviewed the above statement of facts with my attorney. I agree to the
accuracy of the statemment of facts and acknowledge the truth of the statement of facts

as detailed above

DONALD POWERS , DATE

14
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Umted States DlStl’lCt Court

Southern Dlstrlct of Ohio at Cincinnati

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA " JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE
DQNALD M. POWERS, JR. ' Case Number: 1:05¢r11

USM Number: 04113-061

- Jack Rubenstein

Defendant’s Attomey

THE DEFENDANT: |
v] pleadad gwlty to ccunl(s) 1 land 2. :
[] pleaded nolo contendere to counts(s) which was accepted by the court.
[] . was found guilty on count(s) ___ after a plea of not gulity.
" The defendant is adjudicated guily of these éffense(sy:_ - |
Title & Section : . * Nature of Offense " Offense Ended . Count
13 USC 1014 - Making a material false statement in a : :

ioan application : 09/2001 1
26 USC 7206(1) . Filing a false Income Tax Retum : 10/2003 _ 2

The defendant Is Sentenced as provided in pages 2 through 5 ofthis judgment. The sentenoe is |mposed
pursuant to the Sentencing Reform Act of 1984, ,

] . The defendant has been found not guilty on counts{s} ___and is discharged as to such count(s),

- ['j B Cuuntts) ___(is){are) dismlssed on the m::tion of the United States.

ITIS ORDERED that the defendant shall notify the United States Attorney for this dlstnct wnthin 30 days of any
. change of name, residence, or maiiing address until all fines, restitution, costs, and special assessments imposed by this
Judgment are fully paid, If ordered to pay restitution, the defendant must nutufy the court and the United States Attorney of
materlal changes In the defendant's economic circumstances.

October 24, 2005
Date of iImposition of Judgment

A ' . ' : - Stgnatuiﬁf Judicial Officer

i cerufy that r.has isa .
true and correct cupy of the
ongmai filed in iy Ott“ ce

on__$9° 5’! e 1o S S B . _ | S ‘ : '
JAMES EONIN, 3 . Defoter, 3, 2005 |
t s - . Date . = 7 |

SUSAN J. DLOTT, United States District Judge
~ Name & Title of Judicia! Officer
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AO 24;53 {Rev. 12/03) Sheet 2 - Imprisonment

CASE NUMBER: 1:056¢6r11 ) ' Judgment - Page 2 of 5 '
DEFENDANT: DONALD M, POWERS, JR. ] ‘ -
lMPRISONMENT

- The defendant is hereby committed o the custody of the United States Bursau of Pnsons to be imprisoned for a

o iotal term of 38 Months on Count 1 and 36 Months on Count 2, to be served concurrently.

B .'--'_The defendant shall partlclpate in the Bureau of Prison’s Inmate Financial Responsubility Program. The defendant shall
partlclpate in the Bureau of Prison’s Residential Substance Abuse Treatment Program

fv'] '; The couit makes the following recornrnendations to the Bureau of Prisons:
. _That the defendant be placed at Morgantown FCI or the closest appropriate facliity with the Residential Substance

Abuse Treatment Program to Clncmnati OChio..
[} -~ The defendant Is remanded to the custody of the United States Marshal,

{] The defendant shall surrender to the United States Marshar for this district.
[} at _
“[as notlred by the United States Marshal.

iv] ~The defendant shall surrender for service of sentence at the institution designated by the Bureau of Prisons:
{v’] before 2:00 p.m. on January 9, 20086 . .
- 1] as notified by the United States Marshal but no sooner than
{1as notified by the Probation or Pretrial Services Office.

. RETURN
J have executed this judgment as follows:
. Defendant dellvered on; . to
-at i 3 . - , with a certlfied copy of this judgment.

UNITED STATES MARSHAL

.By'

Deputy U.S. Marshal
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AO 245E! {Rev 12/03) Sheetd - SUpervised Release

- CASE NUMBER:. - 1:05cr11 ' o Judgment - Page 3 of 5
DEFENDANT: DONALD M. POWERS, JR. S

SUPERVISED RELEASE

Upon release from imprisonment, the defendant shall be on supervised release fora tarm of 5 Years on Count 1and 3 Y
on_Count 2, to be served concurrantl

He must undergo mental health and substénce abuse assessments and comply with any recommended treatment. The
defendant shall riot be permitted to open any new lines of credit or make purchases on existing lines of credit without permission from
. his probation officer. He must disclose ali financial information requested by his probation officer. The defendant shall serve 800
hours community service. Wherever possible, community service should be for a charity that serves the neighborhoods affected by this
scheme and that is dedicated to restoring-property values, promoting better housing conditions, or expanding home ownership, such as
Habitat for Humanity. Specific assignments will be at the discretion of the probation office, after conferring with the Court. Pursuant
to the Court’s authority under 18 U.8.C. § 3583(d), the Court orders that the defendant be barred from working in real estate lending or
. sales for the entire term of the defendant’s supervised release. The Court further orders that, if the defendant hes 2 real estate license in

* any state, notice of the defendant’s conviction and sentence be reported to that state’s real estate licensing agency.

. The defendant must report {o the probation office in the district to which the defendant is ralaased within 72 hours of release from the
custody of the Burgau of Prisons.

" The ddfe_h'dant shall not commit another federal, state, or local crime.
The defendant shall not illegally possess a controlled substance, The defendant shall refrain from any unlawful use of a dontrolled

substance, The defendant shall submit to one drug test within 15 days of release from imprisenment and at least two pericdlc drug
tests thereafter, as determined by the Court.

[1  The above drug tesfing condition is suspended based on the courl's determination that the defendant poses a low rlsk of
future substance abuse. (Check, if applicable.) .
v} The defendant shall not possess a firearm, destructive device, or any other dangerous weapon. (Check, if applicable.)
[v] .  The defendant shall cooperate in the coliection of DNA es directed by the probation officer. (Check, if applicabie.)
11 The defendant shall register with the state sex offender ragistration agency in the state where the defendant reskdes, works, or
is a student, as directed by the probation officer. (Check, if applicable.}
[1- The defendant shall participate in an approved program for domestic violence. (Check, if applicable.)

If this judgment imposes a fi fne or restitution, it is a condltion of supervised release that the defendant pay in accordance with the
Schedule of Payments sheet of this judgment.

The defendant must comply with the standard conditions that have been adopted by thls court as well as with any add:tlona! conditions
on the attached page.

STANDARD CONDITIONS OF SUPERVIS!ON

1) the defendant shall hot leave the judicla! district without permission of the court or probation officer;
-2} the defendant shall report to the probation officer and shall submit a truthful and complete written report w1lh|n the fi rst five days of
- each month;
3). the defendant shall answer truthfully all inquirles by the prabation officer and follow the instructions of the probation officer;
4)  the defendant shall support his or her dependants and mest other family responsibilities;
"§)  the defendant shall work regularly at a lawful occupation, unless excused by the prcbatmn off' cer for schooling, trainfng or ofher
- acceptable reasons; -
"8) the defendant shall notify the probation officer at Ieast ten days pnor to any change i in residence or employment;
7}  the defendanl shall refrain from excessive use of alcohol and shall not purchase, possess, use, distribute, or administer any
controlled substance or any paraphernalia related to any controlied substances, except as prescribed by.a physician;
8) the defendant shall not frequent places where controlled substances are illegally sold, used, distributed, or administered;
9) the-defendant shall not associate with any persons engaged In criminal activity, and shall not associate wlth any person convicted
- of a felony unless granted permission to do so by the probation officer;
10) the defendant shali permit a probatton officer fo visit him or her at any time at home or elsewhere and shall permit confrscation of
any contraband observed in plain view of the probation officer;
11) the defendant shall notify the probation officer within saventy-two hours of being arrested or questioned by a law enforcement
-officer;
12) the defendant shall not enter Into any agreement to act as an Informer or a special agent of a law enforcemant agency wﬂhout the
permission of the court;
13) as directed by the probation officer, the defendant shall notify third parties of risks Ihat may be occasloned by the defendant's
criminal record or personal history or characleristics, and shall permit the probation officer to make such notifications and to
confirm the defendant's compliance with such nofification requarement
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CASE NUMBER: 1:05cr11 : I © Judgment-Paged of 5
DEFENDANT: . DONALD M. POWERS JR, : :

CRIMINAL MONETARY PENALTIES

The defendant must pay the total criminal monetary penalties under the Schedule of Payments on Sheet 6.

- ' - Assessment . . Fine - Restitution
- Totals: ' : $ 200.00 ~ §150,000.00 $ 1,643,883.00

[v/] The determination of reet:tutlon is deferred until January 20, 2005 at 11:00 am. An amended Judgment ina Cnmma!
Casa (AQ 245C) will be entered after such determlnation

[v] The defendant must make restitution. (including community restrtutlon) to the following payees in the amounts listed
below.

if the defendant makes a partial payment, each péyee shall receive an approximately proportioned payment unless
specified otherwise in the priority order of percentage payment column below. However, pursuant to 18 U1.S.C. §
3864(1), all nonfederal victims must be paid before the United States is paid. _

L *Total .
Name of Payee ' Loss Restitution Ordered  Priority or Percéntage
~ . Internal Revenue Service 34,217.00 ' 34,217.00
‘Trustcorp Mortgage _ 1,609,666.00 1,608,666.00

‘IoTALS: $1643,883.00  $1,643.883.00

R R’ééfifuﬁ'oh amount ordered pursuant'to dlea agreement §
'_ I The defendant rust pay interest on restitution and a fine of more than $2500, unless. the restitution or fine is paid in
. fult hefore the fifteenth day after the date of judgment, pursuant to 18 U.5.C. §3612(f). All of the payment options on
‘ Sheet 6 may be subject to penaltres for delrnquency and default, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §3612(g).
v The court determmed ihat the defendant does not have the abrirty to pay interest and It is ordered that:
[v] The interest requarement rs wawed for the [v'] fine [v] restitution,

[1 The interest requlremer_\t for the {] f‘ ne [] restitutipﬁ is modified as foliows:

* Findings for the lotal amount of Iosees aré required under Chapters 1084, 110, 11DA, and 1134 of Titie 18 for offenses committed on or after
Seplember 13, 1884 but before April 23, 1896, )
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“* A 2458 (Rev, 12/03) Sheet 6- Criminal Monetary Penallies
CASE NUMBER: 1:05¢cr11 : Judgment - Page 5 of §
DEFENDANT:' E DONALD M. POWERS, JR. :

 SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS

' '_ Having assessed the defendant’s ability to pay, payment of the total criminal monetary penalties are due as foliows:

. A [1 Lump sum payment of § due immediately, balance due

: [}'nnt later than or _ _
[Jinaccordancewith [] C, [] D, [1E,or []F below;or

[v] Payment to begin immediately (may be combined with [1 C [} D,or [v] Fbelow);or
11 Payment in equal instaliments of $ over a period of , to commence days after the date of this judgment- or

D [' ] Paymentin equal instaliments of $ over a penod of to commence days aﬂer release from Impr:sonment toa
term of superwsmn or

E [] Payment dunng the term of supervised release will commence within (e.g., 30 or 80 days) after release from
imprisonment, The Court will set the payment plan based on an assessmant of the defendant's ability to pay at

that time; or
- F V] Speclal instructions regardnng the payment of crlrninat monetary pena!tles

[»] If the defendant, while incarcerated, is working in a non-UNICOR or grade 5 UNtCOR job, the defendant shalt
pay $25.00 per quarter toward defendant’s restitution obligation. If working in a grade 1-4 UNICOR job,
defendant shall pay 50% of defendant’s monthly pay toward dafandant's restitution obhgatlon Any change in this

- schedule shall be made only by order of this Court.

[v/] Afterthe defendantis release from imprisonment, and within 30 days of the commencement of the tenn of
supervised release, the probation officer shall recommend a revised payment schedule to the Court to satisfy
any unpaid balance of the restitution, The Court wili enter an order establishing a schedule of payments,

'Untess the court has expressly ordered otherwise, if this judgment imposes imprisonment, payment of criminal monetary
penalties |s due durmg imprisonment, All criminal penalties, except those payments made through the Federal Bureau of
Prtsons tnmate Flnanclal Responsibility Program are made to the Clerk of the Court.

‘ T’ne defendant shall recewe credit for all payments previously made toward any cnminat monetary penalties tmnosed

' [o/] Jomt and SeVBraI (Defendant name, Case Numbar Total Amount, Jonnt and Several Amount and corraspondtng
payae) ,

* o be determsned atthe haaring on January 20, 2005

(] The defandant shall pay the cost of prosecution
[1 The defendant shall pay the following court cost(s):

{] The defendant shall forfeit the defendant's interest in the following property to the United States:

- ' Payments shall be applied in the following order: (1) assessment; (2) restitution principal; (3} restitution interest; (4) fine
" principal; (5) community restltutmn (6) fine interest; (7) penalties; and {8} costs, including cost of prosecution and court
costs.” - _
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